
 
1 
 

 
 

Notice of an Extraordinary meeting of 
Council 

 
Monday, 16 November 2020 

4.00 pm 
Virtual WEBEX video conference via YouTube - 

https://www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough 
 

Membership 

Councillors: Roger Whyborn (Chair), Sandra Holliday (Vice-Chair), 
Victoria Atherstone, Matt Babbage, Paul Baker, Garth Barnes, 
Dilys Barrell, Angie Boyes, Nigel Britter, Jonny Brownsteen, Flo Clucas, 
Chris Coleman, Mike Collins, Stephen Cooke, Iain Dobie, 
Bernard Fisher, Wendy Flynn, Tim Harman, Steve Harvey, 
Rowena Hay, Alex Hegenbarth, Karl Hobley, Martin Horwood, 
Peter Jeffries, Steve Jordan, Chris Mason, Paul McCloskey, 
Andrew McKinlay, Tony Oliver, Dennis Parsons, John Payne, 
Louis Savage, Diggory Seacome, Malcolm Stennett, Jo Stafford, 
Klara Sudbury, Simon Wheeler, Max Wilkinson, Suzanne Williams and 
David Willingham 

 

Agenda 
    

1.  APOLOGIES  
   

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
   

3.  COMMUNICATIONS BY THE MAYOR  
   

4.  COMMUNICATIONS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
   

5.  TO RECEIVE PETITIONS  
   

6.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
These must be received no later than 12 noon on Tuesday 10 
November 2020.  
 
**Questions must relate directly to the business of this meeting** 

 

   

7.  MEMBER QUESTIONS 
These must be received no later than 12 noon on Tuesday 10 
November 2020.  
 
**Questions must relate directly to the business of this meeting** 

 

   



    

 
2 
 

8.  COVID-19 RECOVERY REVISED BUDGET 2020/21 
Report of the Cabinet Member Finance 

(Pages 
3 - 48) 

   

9.  MINSTER INNOVATION EXCHANGE (FORMERLY WORKSHOP 
CHELTENHAM) 
Report of the Cabinet Member Finance 

(Pages 
49 - 82) 

   

10.  NOTICES OF MOTION  
   

11.  ANY OTHER ITEM THE MAYOR DETERMINES AS URGENT AND 
WHICH REQUIRES A DECISION 

 

   
 

Contact Officer:  Bev Thomas, Democratic Services Team Leader, 01242 264246 
Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Gareth Edmundson 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FILMING, RECORDING AND BROADCASTING OF  COUNCIL MEETINGS 
This virtual meeting will be recorded by the council for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast online at www.cheltenham.gov.uk and 
www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough.  At the start of the meeting the Chair will 
confirm this. The footage will be streamed live on the YouTube channel.  
If you participate in the meeting you are consenting to the use of those sound 
recordings for broadcasting and training purposes.  

mailto:democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk
http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/
http://www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough


 

 Page 1 of 32  

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Cabinet – 10th November 2020 

Council – 16th November 2020 

Covid-19 recovery revised budget 2020/21 

Accountable member Councillor Rowena Hay, Cabinet Member for Finance 

Accountable officer Paul Jones, Executive Director Finance and Assets (Section 151 
Officer) 

Accountable scrutiny 
committee 

All 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key Decision No 

Executive summary The impact of Covid-19 on the finances of local authorities, coupled with a 
decade of austerity and budget cuts, is unprecedented. News from councils 
across the country tell of local authorities struggling to balance the books 
and warning of the possibility of issuing section 114 notices without further 
financial support from Central Government. The situation is being closely 
monitored by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) with councils submitting monthly reports in respect of their income 
losses and additional expenditure.  
 
Cheltenham Borough Council has incurred significant additional expenditure 
as a result of the pandemic, which is estimated to exceed the £1,535,602 
grant funding that has been received in 2020/21 to date. Of more concern, 
Covid-19 has affected Cheltenham’s ability to generate revenues in several 
service areas as a result of lockdown, government restrictions and social 
distancing measures to respond to the pandemic. 
 
The scale of income losses and additional expenditure incurred because of 
Covid-19 and the lockdown requires the Council to take in-year action. For 
Cheltenham Borough Council, the estimated additional expenditure and 
income losses, net of Government support, are estimated to be £1.831m 
which represents 12.45% of the Council’s net budget. By law, the council 
has to ensure our books balance at the end of the financial year. This report 
therefore seeks to set a revised Covid-19 recovery budget for 2020/21 to 
address the additional expenditure and loss of income experienced because 
of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The impact on council tax, business rates and the implications for the 
economy, particularly the key income streams for the council such as car 
parking, are matters that will challenge the medium term financial strategy.  
It is worth noting that beyond this immediate year we face the requirement 
to make further savings of £2.616m. The council’s ambition to make 
Cheltenham the cyber capital of the UK is critical to ensuring that the council 
achieves financial sustainability. The recommendations within this report 
aim to ensure a balanced budget is delivered in 2020/21, that sufficient 
revenue resources are released to ensure a robust and balanced budget 
can be delivered in future years and that appropriate resources continue to 
be directed towards our key priorities. 
 
 

Page 3
Agenda Item 8



 

 Page 2 of 32  

 

Recommendations I therefore recommend that Cabinet approve the following 
recommendations to Council: 

1. Note the estimated position in respect of collection rates for 
council tax and business rates for 2020/21 (paras 3.37 to 3.44). 

2. Approve the revised Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy 
as detailed in Appendix 2 (paras 4.12 to 4.16). 

3. Approve the revised capital programme with £1.7m capital 
receipts previously allocated to the High Street works to be 
reallocated to repaying the MRP as detailed in paras 4.19 to 
4.20. 

4. Note the identified asset disposals as detailed in paras 4.22 to 
4.29. 

5. Approve the virements as summarised in Appendix 3, in order 
to produce a balanced General Fund (GF) revised budget for 
2020/21. 

6. Note that future budget monitoring reports will assess the 
position against this revised budget and further decisions may 
be required depending on the economic impact being 
experienced as the year progresses. 

7. Approve the additional budget and funding for Cyber Central 
(Golden Valley development) as set out in section 5. 

8. Approve the flexible use of capital receipts strategy as detailed 
in Appendix 4 (paras 5.21 to 5.26). 

9. Approves the budget-setting timetable at Appendix 5 and note 
the 2021/22 budget process outlined in section 6. 

10. Notes the intention for this Council to remain in the 
Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool in 2021/22 as outlined in 
section 7 and note that the Council reserves the right to 
withdraw after the local government finance settlement 
announcement. 

11. Approve the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) revised budget 
for 2020/21 as summarised in Section 8. 

  

Financial implications As detailed throughout this report. 

Contact officer: Paul Jones,  paul.jones@cheltenham.gov.uk,     
01242 264365 

Page 4



 

 Page 3 of 32  

 

Legal implications There is a legal requirement under the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, sections 31A and 42A to set a balanced budget. The budget 
proposals include budgets for expenditure and income and uses reserves 
to fund one off expenditure, fund future expenditure or phase in the impact 
of increased expenditure in accordance with the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy. 
 

Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a statutory duty on 
the Council to monitor during the financial year its expenditure and income 
against the budget calculations. If the monitoring establishes that the 
budgetary situation has deteriorated, the Council must take such action, as 
it considers necessary to deal with the situation. This might include, for 
instance, action to reduce spending in the rest of the year, to increase 
income, or to finance the shortfall from reserves.  

Under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, where it 
appears to the Chief Finance Officer that the expenditure of the authority 
incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur) in a financial year is 
likely to exceed the resources (including sums borrowed) available to it to 
meet that expenditure, the Chief Finance Officer has a duty to make a 
report to the Council. 

Section 25 of the 2003 Local Government Act requires the Authority’s 
Section 151 Officer to comment on the robustness of the estimates and 
the adequacy of reserves. 

Contact officer: One Legal – legal.services@tewkesbury.gov.uk,     
01684 272012 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

Employee capacity must be kept under review to ensure that any 
additional work is adequately resourced. If budget pressures mean 
monies for additional resource is not permissible a review of current 
projects and service delivery options will need to take place.    

Contact officer:   Julie McCarthy,   julie.mccarthy@publicagroup.uk, 
01242 264355 

Property implications As detailed in the report 

Contact officer:   Dominic Stead,  dominic.stead@cheltenham.gov.uk, 
01242  

Key risks As outlined in Appendix 1. 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

Key elements of the budget are aimed at delivering the corporate 
objectives in the Corporate Business Plan. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

The Cabinet has recommended to Council that the ambition to be carbon 
neutral by 2030 be adopted and that when the financial position is clearer 
the Executive Leadership Team bring back a report to address how the 
council could progress those actions identified for the attention of the 
Borough Council. Currently this Covid-19 recovery revised budget has 
focused on reducing the shortfall. The implications for addressing the 
carbon neutral agenda and other growth items will be considered in the 
coming months when we will have a clear picture on income and the 
recovery phase. 

 

Page 5

mailto:legal.services@tewkesbury.gov.uk
mailto:julie.mccarthy@publicagroup.uk


 

 Page 4 of 32  

 

1. Background 

1.1 On 17th February 2020, Council approved the budget for 2020/21, including setting the Council 
Tax. The 2020/21 approved budget identified efficiency savings and additional income of 
£0.826m. In recognition of the savings already made by local government in response to 
austerity, the 2016 local government settlement (2016) allowed authorities to spend locally what is 
raised locally. Most noticeably, there was a shift away from freezing council tax to using council 
tax to generate additional funding. Reserves were also noted as providing a further element of an 
efficiency plan through a voluntary drawdown of reserves as the price for greater certainty for 
future settlements. In line with those principles, the shortfall in funding in 2020/21 of £0.258m was 
met from the budget strategy (support) earmarked reserve in order to deliver a balanced budget. 

1.2 The 2020/21 budget includes budgeted savings through growth in respect of the delivery of both 
affordable and private rented sector housing and new build of industrial commercial units, 
commercial income generation, targeted fees and charges generation to meet demand and 
modernisation savings, all of which are now unlikely to be achieved in full this year due to a 
pandemic-induced expected down-turn in the economy and reduction in interest rates.  

1.3 The national restrictions imposed to protect the public from Covid-19 have had a material impact 
on the Council’s financial position, particularly in respect of the General Fund (GF). Not only has 
the Council incurred additional unbudgeted expenditure as a result of its response to the 
restrictions and the additional responsibilities taken on, but also the lockdown has resulted in 
significant losses of income.  

1.4 Projections to date of the financial impact on the Council show that the Council will be unable to 
simply use its General Fund Balances and earmarked reserves to offset the additional 
expenditure and losses, without impacting on its ability to set a balanced budget in future years. 
As a result, it is imperative that Council needs to take action now to protect the overall financial 
position of the Council. Projections are based on a number of assumptions, which are subject to 
change as we move through future waves of the pandemic. The purpose of this report is to deliver 
a balanced budget while accepting that this position may change for better or worse over the 
course of the year.  

1.5 The impact of Covid-19 on Local Authorities across the Country is difficult to gauge due to 
different demographics, resources, demands. There has been significant lobbying on behalf of 
councils from the Local Government Association (LGA), the Districts Council Network (DCN), 
Society of District and Council Treasurers (SDCT), the County Councils Network (CCN) and the 
Unitary Councils Network (UCN), to ensure adequate funding is given to Councils to cover their 
losses, which were estimated at in excess of £10Billion across the sector by the LGA. 

1.6 The situation remains fluid and as such proposals made to address the shortfall will be subject to 
change if the financial position of the Council improves with elements of the reductions being 
proposed given the option of being reinstated or reserves strengthened. This report sets out the 
additional expenditure incurred, the projections of income lost, broken down between 
irrecoverable and potentially recoverable, and proposals to balance the budget. A separate 
section sets out the position in respect of the HRA. 

2. Context 

2.1 Unique challenges require a unique response. Covid-19 has tested Cheltenham’s communities, 
economy and way of life in a way that has not been seen since the Second World War. Our 
Borough has lost loved ones, business has been disrupted and we have all had to re-learn a new 
existence that tries to retain our human connections while being apart. We have been humbled by 
the dedicated and caring values shown by all to support and shield those who need help and we 
are proud to witness the strength and resilience of our town in the face of this challenge. 
Overcoming Covid-19 involves more than finding a medical cure, we must also focus on how we 
can rebuild our economy and communities to be stronger than before. In Cheltenham, we remain 
just as committed to making our Borough the Cyber Capital of the UK and helping our town, 

Page 6



 

 Page 5 of 32  

 

county and region thrive. Nevertheless, the challenge of this global pandemic requires a response 
that is more innovative and ambitious than we might have thought previously possible.  

2.2 Local Government needs to work alongside Central Government to avert the need for a further 10 
years of austerity and create a bold vision to rebuild after Covid-19. In Cheltenham, we firmly 
believe we have the people, skills and local solutions to deliver a recovery that will not just repair 
the damage but it will offer the opportunity for renewal, improvement and strong, sustainable 
communities. Locally driven investment in projects, spaces and places will allow us to deliver 
tailored responses to our challenges and opportunities and allow us to play our part in a collective 
national effort to rebuild. It is therefore essential that the Council is financially sustainable and in a 
position to lead that recovery. 

2.3 In the last 10 years, the Council’s core funding from the Government has been cut by £6.8 million, 
whilst at the same time experiencing significant cost pressures and increasing demand. For the 
majority of that period there was a mandate from Government to restrict council tax increases, 
placing further pressure on the Council’s ability to sustainably provide services through more 
innovative and commercial ventures that cross subsidise services.  

2.4 The Council has an excellent track record in delivering pioneering solutions to the budget 
pressures faced. Over the same 10 year period, the Council has delivered savings and additional 
income in excess of £9.6m broken down as £2.916m from staff reorganisation and service 
reviews; £3.378m through the creation of innovative shared services with other local authorities 
and the creation of alternative delivery models such as Ubico and the Cheltenham Trust; and 
£3.669m from additional income generation and effective asset management.  

2.5 Cheltenham Borough Council has taken the principles of the last local government settlement 
(2016) in good faith and delivered a commercial strategy, which seeks to bring service costs in 
line with available funding and seek additional forms of funding.   

2.6 The commercial strategy was adopted by Full Council in February 2018 which set a clear vision 
for Cheltenham “to become an enterprising and commercially focused Council which people are 
proud to work for and which others want to work with. We use our assets, skills and infrastructure 
to shape and improve public services and enable economic growth in the Borough. We have 
generated significant levels of new income for the Council working towards the objective of 
enabling it to become financially sustainable by financial year 2021/22”. 

2.7 Part of our drive towards financial sustainability includes identifying new opportunities to generate 
income and investment in projects which provide good financial returns. Our commercial strategy 
aligns closely with other key strategies including place-making, economic growth, digital 
transformation, workforce and skills development, investment and asset management which have 
a combined message that Cheltenham Borough Council has entered a new era of business 
enterprise, growth and innovation.  We will work with partners who share our ambition and values 
and will continue to put the best interests of Cheltenham residents at the heart of everything we 
do. 

2.8 The proposals within this revised budget aim to utilise our assets, skills and infrastructure to 
shape and improve public services and enable inclusive and environmentally sustainable 
economic growth in the Borough whilst providing a mechanism to ensure the Council has the 
revenue resources to lead the recovery.  

2.9 The assets identified by the Cabinet for disposal will provide much needed revenue to ensure the 
Council is financially resilient this year and future years. These assets are deemed surplus to our 
operational requirements and currently are low yielding in terms of delivering a return to its 
residents. They are, however, strategically placed to drive economic activity and the creation of 
jobs to deliver much needed housing and commercial opportunities for the wider benefit of the 
whole town and its communities. 

 

Page 7



 

 Page 6 of 32  

 

3. General Fund Revenue 2020/21 

3.1 The Council has been required to submit monthly returns to Government via their Delta system in 
order to capture additional expenditure incurred, lost income from sales fees and charges, lost 
income from commercial activities (e.g. commercial property investments and other investments) 
and the potential losses from the collection fund (i.e. council tax and business rates losses).  

3.2 Significant additional expenditure has been incurred because of the pandemic, which is estimated 
to exceed the £1,535,602 grant funding that has been received in 2020/21. Of more concern, 
Covid-19 has impacted Cheltenham’s ability to generate revenues in several service areas as a 
result of lockdown, government restrictions and social distancing measures, related to the 
pandemic 

3.3 The following section provides the most up to date projection for these losses.  

Additional Expenditure – General Fund 

3.4 The table below sets out the additional expenditure incurred to the end of September 2020, and 
projected for the full financial year.  

 Actual 
incurred to 
September 
2020  

£m 

Projected 
full year 
costs 
2020/21   

£m  

Public Health - Testing, contact tracing and outbreak planning 0.000 0.034 

Housing General Fund – homelessness and rough sleeping 0.143 0.294 

Leisure 0.133 0.483 

Cultural related 0.000 0.000 

Cremation, cemetery and mortuary services 0.118 0.170 

Waste Management 0.206 0.353 

Finance & corporate - ICT & remote working 0.101 0.137 

Shielding / wellbeing hub and food hub 0.185 0.235 

PPE 0.045 0.063 

Unachieved savings/delayed projects 0.138 0.250 

Other 0.008 0.030 

Sub-total 1.077 2.049 

Less Government grant received   (tranches 2 – 4) (1.332) (1.536) 

Less Housing Benefit recovered (0.088) (0.180) 

Total cost to the Council (0.343) 0.333 

 

3.5 The gross additional costs incurred as a result of the pandemic are £1.077m for the period to 
September 2020, with an estimated total spend of £2.049m for the financial year. The majority of 
this expenditure was anticipated to be one off, although the estimated costs assume continued 
expenditure throughout the winter because of the further restrictions announced on 31st October 
2020 due to a continuation of increased infections of the virus. 

3.6 Housing General Fund – the major area of additional expenditure relates to the Government’s 
requirement to remove all rough sleepers from the streets from the end of March. The social 
distancing rules effectively put many without a permanent home and who may have been staying 
with friends and/or relations onto the streets who had to be accommodated. The additional costs 

Page 8



 

 Page 7 of 32  

 

associated with this are two-fold – they needed to be accommodated in hotel provision and 
provided with meals throughout the day – a huge partnership effort between ourselves, the 
County Council, The Cheltenham Trust and the voluntary sector. The cost to date of this has been 
£143k against which the Government will provide Housing benefit specific grant estimated at 
£88k. The projected costs allow for the scheme to run until the end of March 2021. Any further 
extension of the scheme will cost the Council around £22k a month.  The future cost of this 
service will depend on how long it takes the economy to fully recover. However, at the time of 
writing, the number of positive Covid-19 cases nationally and in Gloucestershire continues to rise. 
Therefore, the likelihood is increasing that there will be a further demand on hotel provision and 
further significant costs incurred in the coming months.  

3.7 Leisure services – Leisure is one of the hardest hit sectors of industry under the lockdown 
restrictions, gyms were among the last facilities to open and they remain on a list of those 
activities that are considered a higher risk of causing Covid-transmission. Even when open, 
leisure facilities are being forced to operate well below normal capacities to be Covid-secure. It is 
still not certain when leisure@ and the Prince of Wales Stadium will be permitted to open with full 
capacity, but it is unlikely to be before the next financial year at the earliest. Government are only 
compensating losses in respect of leisure where the Council directly provides the service, which 
goes against the principle of creating alternative delivery models to ensure the provision of 
services is delivered in the most cost efficient way. Leisure is one of the largest cost pressures 
facing Local Authorities as a result of the Covid-19 restrictions. Regardless of the model being 
used to deliver leisure services across the public sector, lobbying continues to ensure all 
providers and councils are compensated fairly. There is projected unbudgeted expenditure of 
£483k for the year, which includes some allowance for the 4-week lock-down that commences on 
5th November 2020. 

3.8 On 22nd October 2020, the Minister for MHCLG announced a new £100m fund to “support council 
leisure centres most in need”. Authorities will need to apply for the funding on a bid-based 
approach. Our early interpretation of the press notice is that the compensation scheme is 
intended for authorities where leisure is provided through third parties (such as The Cheltenham 
Trust) and, as a result, has not been able to access the Sales, Fees and Charges (SFC) 
compensation scheme.  Officers will monitor developments closely and work with the Cheltenham 
Trust to submit a bid when more details about the scheme are available. 

3.9 Cultural services – cultural services are again one of the hardest hit sectors of industry under the 
lockdown restrictions. It is still not certain when all sites will be permitted to open with full capacity, 
but it is unlikely to be before the next financial year at the earliest. The Cheltenham Trust, have 
cut costs significantly, using the Government’s furlough scheme, but are still incurring costs 
without any income. However, it is pleasing to report that the Cheltenham Trust was recently 
awarded £852,161 from the Arts Council, in respect of the Government’s Culture Recovery Fund, 
which will offset its losses in this financial year. Cheltenham Festivals and the Everyman Theatre 
were awarded similar sums from this fund which is great news for the cultural sector in 
Cheltenham. Whilst the Playhouse Theatre was unsuccessful in its bid, it is pleasing to 
acknowledge that the public has fully backed its fundraising campaign with in excess of £16k 
being raised at the time of writing this report. 

3.10 Bereavement services – There is additional expenditure totalling £118k for the period to 30th 
September, as a result of backfilling cremation and grave digging services and additional 
administration, operational changes requirements, arising as a result of updated guidance and 
staff shortages during lockdown.  There is a risk that further costs may arise again in the second 
half of the year in response to further pandemic measures. 

3.11 Ubico – The expenditure includes £241k additional costs incurred by Ubico Limited for the period 
to 30th September, in order to continue providing essential waste and environmental services 
during lockdown and the safe reopening of the Household Recycling Centre. The closure of 
hospitality and the necessity to stay at home resulted in significant increases in waste being 
presented – costing more to collect and process, at a time when more temporary staff were 
needed to cover those off sick or self-isolating. These costs are expected to continue during the 

Page 9



 

 Page 8 of 32  

 

second half of the year, and include the backfilling costs of household collection, PPE and other 
health and safety materials.  

3.12 Corporate & Remote working – There is additional expenditure totalling £101k for the period to 
30th September, as a result of arrangements put in place for health and safety and for remote 
working for staff and members.  This has enabled the council to continue with “business as usual” 
during the pandemic, whilst ensuring that the government recommendation to work from home 
where possible during lockdown’s is fulfilled in a safe manner. 

3.13 Food Hub costs – The council provided a food hub to support the local community, facilitated by 
Cheltenham Trust, during the first lockdown, with total additional expenditure incurred to 31st July 
2020 being £125k.  This was made up of food preparation and delivery of meals and shopping to 
vulnerable people in the community. It is anticipated that further costs may be incurred in this area 
as a result of moving into a second lockdown on 5th November 2020. 

3.14 Community Hub costs – The Council was responsible for providing a wide variety of 
complementary support services to vulnerable and shielded members of the Community to 
maintain their wellbeing and support them with day-to-day tasks that they could no longer 
complete. Additionally, the Council provided Community initiative grants to Community groups in 
conjunction with financial support. 

3.15 Covid-19 has caused a severe delay and impact on the Council’s modernisation programme and 
a number of significant parts of the programme will be delayed and reviewed including a full 
organisational review, process re-engineering and many other identified efficiency improvements.  
This is likely to impact savings targets for both 2020/21 and 2021/22 totalling £350,000.  There 
will also be various re-start costs but these are still to be quantified. 

3.16 In addition to the financial pressure from the pandemic, Members will recall that the 2020/21 
budget allowed for a pay award increase of 2%. In August 2020, the Unions accepted an offer of 
2.75%; the additional financial impact of which is circa £66,000. This risk was captured in the 
Section 151 Officers assessment of General Balances and a contingency budget was held within 
that assessment. Given the multiple pressures arising from Covid-19 on the use of contingency 
budgets, the Section 151 Officer has reviewed other in year budget savings to accommodate this 
increase. 

3.17 As part of the 2020 triennial revaluation, the Section 151 Officer negotiated a discount on the 
pension back-funding payment by making a 3-year payment up-front. This has resulted in a 
further saving of £55,000 to that forecast in the 2020/21 budget proposals and it is proposed that 
this is used to offset the pay award increase identified above.  

Income Losses – General Fund 

3.18 We now have greater clarity on the income compensation scheme and we submitted our first 
application on 25th September 2020 for £1.136m which includes the full 5% deductible. 

3.19 As Council will be aware, Covid-19 has impacted local authorities’ ability to generate revenues in 
several service areas as a result of lockdown, government restrictions and a range of measures 
to respond to the pandemic. This new, one-off income loss scheme will partly compensate for 
irrecoverable and unavoidable losses from sales, fees and charges income generated in the 
delivery of services, in the financial year 2020/21 only. 

3.20 The scheme involves a 5% deductible rate, whereby authorities will absorb losses up to 5% of 
their planned 2020/21 sales, fees and charges income, with government compensating them for 
75p in every pound of relevant loss thereafter. By introducing a 5% deductible government is 
accounting for what they deem to be an acceptable level of volatility, whilst shielding authorities 
from the worst losses. Income lost from commercial income such as commercial property and 
investment income is not covered by the scheme. 

Page 10



 

 Page 9 of 32  

 

3.21 Having worked through the calculation, it is now apparent that we will be compensated for only 
63% of our losses from sales, fees and charges. Our estimated total loss in income this year is 
£3.714m and we estimate that we will receive £2.216m from the compensation scheme. That 
therefore leaves us with a gap of circa £1.498m to fund ourselves. 

3.22 It is worth noting that one of the fundamental principles of the scheme is “unavoidable loss” which 
means that factors outside of the authority’s control caused the loss to be incurred. Voluntary 
decisions, which were made locally, and which were not aligned to relevant government guidance 
at the time, are not covered by the scheme (e.g. closure of services by choice rather than 
because of government guidance or changing the hours of charging such as car parking). 
Authorities should use their judgement to determine whether a voluntary decision was made with 
the intention of supporting relevant government guidance, or whether it represented a departure 
from guidance in place at the relevant time. These judgements will be in scope of the assurance 
processes referred to in the guidance. 

3.23 The following table shows the actual and projected irrecoverable losses for the period 1st April to 
30th September 2020 and the whole year 2020/21.  

 Irrecoverable 
losses to 
September 
2020  

£m 

Projected 
Irrecoverable 
losses for the 
year 2020/21   

£m  

Sales, fees and charges (SFC)   

Off-street car parking 1.469 2.115 

Sponsorship and advertising income 0.145 0.207 

Recreation and sport 0.145 0.271 

Cremation, cemetery and mortuary services 0.233 0.233 

Building control 0.069 0.069 

Trade waste 0.108  0.108 

Recycling 0.100 0.169 

Green Waste -Surplus (0.035) (0.040) 

Regulatory services 0.090 0.130 

Central services to the public 0.144 0.207 

Other 0.023 0.027 

Sub-total 2.491 3.496 

Less estimated Government compensation (1.108) (2.216) 

Total cost to the Council from lost SFC 1.383 1.280 

 
Commercial Income   

Commercial property rental 0.025 0.050 

Investment income 0.083 0.168 

Sub-total 0.109 0.218 

 
Total Income losses to be incurred by the Council 1.491 1.498 

 

3.24 Off-street car parking – There is a loss in car parking income of £1.469m for April to September 
2020 (66% of profiled budget) and a forecast loss of £2.115m for the year, all of which will be 
irrecoverable. This income stream is expected to recover slowly throughout the year, which is 
already being evidenced from a loss of 97% in the months of April and May, 85% in June, 54% in 
July, 39% in August and 29% in September. Based on the current recovery profile we are 

Page 11



 

 Page 10 of 32  

 

estimating that by March 2021, losses will recover to 20% although need to acknowledge that the 
further restrictions announced on 31st October 2020 could impact the recovery of this income 
stream. 

3.25 The main reason for this variance appears to be in respect of office-based workers, which is 
clearly evidenced in a number of our car parks. Whilst we are seeing some recovery, the latest 
announcements are likely to put that recovery on hold, with the government currently encouraging 
workers to continue working from home where they can. These assumptions will be reviewed 
closely throughout the year. 

3.26 With the on-going threat of further lock-down measures, it is highly unlikely that car parking 
income will recover to pre-Covid levels for some time, if at all, which potentially leaves a structural 
deficit in our base budget. There is a risk that this income will never recover to past levels, as 
consumer and working behaviours may change permanently, as more people continue to work 
and shop from home in the future.  Assuming that the estimated income level of 80% of budget 
continues going forward, there will be a loss of circa £900k in 2021/22 and beyond, creating a 
shortfall in the medium term financial strategy which will need to be met from new income streams 
or reduced spending.   

3.27 Sponsorship and advertising – There is a loss of income in Marketing Cheltenham and Highway 
roundabout sponsorship income for the six months to 30th September of £145k, representing 92% 
of profiled budget.  The projected loss for the year of £207k assumes this income stream will not 
recover in the current financial year, and will be irrecoverable. 

3.28 Sports and Recreation – There is a loss in sports and recreation income for the six months to 30th 
September 2020 of £145k as a result of closed facilities during lockdown. The projected forecast 
loss of £271k for the year assumes this income stream will not fully recover in 2020/21 and will be 
impacted by further restrictions over the winter period.  This lost income will not be recoverable. 

3.29 Bereavement Services – There is a loss in bereavement services income of £233k for the six 
months to 30 September, (5% of profiled budget), mainly as a result of the restrictions on 
numbers at funerals and type of services held. The projected forecast income for the year 
assumes normal income levels being achieved from October onwards.  This lost income will not 
be recoverable. 

3.30 Building control – There is a loss in building control income of £69k to 30th September 2020 
representing a loss of 24% against budgeted income for the period. This may improve as the 
economy recovers, and may be recoverable through applications postponed until next financial 
year.  

3.31 Trade Waste – There is a loss in trade waste income of £108k to 30th September 2020 
representing a loss of 30% against budgeted income for the period. The projected forecast 
income for the year assumes normal income levels being achieved from October onwards. The 
loss of income will not be recoverable. 

3.32 Recycling income – There is a shortfall in recycling income of £100k for the six months to 30th 
September 2020.  The projected loss of £169k for the year assumes that recycling credits are not 
impacted by the emergency, but that there is a reduction in the bulking facility sales of 25% to 
September 2020, returning to normal income levels for the remainder of the year.   

3.33 Licenses – There is a loss of licensing income to 30th September of £86k, included within the 
£90k other regulatory services in the table above. This represents 39% of profiled budget for the 
period and an expected loss of £70.8k for the year.  The projected forecast income for the year 
assumes normal income levels being achieved from October onwards.  This loss will not be 
recoverable, due to fixed renewal periods.  There is a possibility that income levels will not return 
to normal in future years, if some businesses cease trading as a result of a prolonged lockdown.   

3.34 Central services to the Public – There is a loss of land charges income of £51.8k to 30th 
September 2020, representing 46% of profiled budgets. The projected forecast income for the 

Page 12



 

 Page 11 of 32  

 

year assumes normal income levels being achieved from October onwards.  This may improve as 
the economy recovers, and may be recoverable through enquiries postponed until next financial 
year.  

3.35 Central services to the Public – There is a loss of £92k in Council Tax and NNDR court costs to 
30th September 2020, representing 100% of profiled budget. There is a projected loss of £155k for 
the year that may not be fully recoverable.  

3.36 Investment income – There is an estimated net reduction in investment interest of £167.5k that 
will not be recovered.  This is a result of the reduction in interest rates, which may not recover for 
some time.  This budget may therefore be impacted in 2021/22. 

Collection Fund losses (Council Tax and Business Rates) 

Council Tax 

3.37 All recovery action was suspended during the lockdown period. The Revenues & Benefits team 
were dealing with many requests from customers to change their instalment plans to extend or 
defer payment until later in the year. Reminder notices started to be issued again in July 2020. At 
the end of June collection was 1.4% below where it was at the same time last year but by the end 
of August this reduced to 0.7% which is a positive trend.    

3.38 The losses from council tax in 2020/21 are projected to be in the region of £1.1m. These are 
broken down as £0.46m from the increase in local council tax support recipients (net of hardship 
fund relief), £0.44m in payment failure and £0.2m through lost tax base (e.g. delay in new 
properties being completed & properties reassigned from council tax to business rates such as 
Airbnb). 

3.39 Some of the increase in local council tax support is being offset in this financial year through the 
one-off ‘Hardship fund” grant received from Central Government. This still leaves £0.46m more 
council tax support being paid to recipients than was budgeted for and this is likely to increase. 
The additional council tax support and tax base growth being less than expected will leave a 
potential deficit on the collection fund of circa £0.25m in this financial year. This compares to a 
surplus of over £0.5m in 2019/20. The proportionate split of any surplus or deficit between 
Cheltenham Borough Council and its major preceptors is as follows: 

 Gloucestershire County Council 74% 

 The Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire 14% 

 Cheltenham Borough Council 12% 
 
3.40 If the shortfall due to payment failure were not collected, Cheltenham Borough Council’s share 

would equate to circa £53k although it must be stressed that income not being collected does not 
necessarily mean it will be written off, as the Council will be able to pursue the debt for many 
years. Of more concern moving forward is the actual taxbase itself. The projections in the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) assumed growth in the taxbase of 0.8% per annum which 
equates to natural growth in council tax (excluding any tax rises) of circa £75,000 per annum. It is 
highly unlikely that there will be any growth in the taxbase in 2021/22 for reasons outlined above. 

Business Rates 

3.41 As with council tax, all recovery action was suspended during the lockdown period. Over 1,000 
businesses that would have been paying business rates are now receiving the retail, hospitality, 
leisure discount so do not have to pay anything in this financial year. To put this into perspective 
we are now due to collect £23m in this financial year compared to £57m last year. Whilst the 
Covid-19 reliefs are in place it is difficult to predict the full extent of how business rates has been 
affected and this presents a significant risk to the future funding of local government. 

Page 13



 

 Page 12 of 32  

 

3.42 A number of businesses have requested to extend or delay payments. Reminder notices started 
to be issued again in July 2020 but collection at the end of August is about 1% lower than at the 
same time last year, although somewhat distorted by the fact that a major ratepayer paid their bill 
in full at the beginning of the financial year.  

3.43 The losses from business rates in 2020/21 are projected to be in the region of £2m of which 40% 
(£0.8m) would fall on this Council. 

3.44 The Government recognises that the losses currently being recorded in respect of council tax and 
business rates are related to cash-flow rather than potential permanent loss. The government is 
therefore proposing that repayments to meet collection fund deficits accrued in 2020/21 will 
instead be phased over a three-year period (2021-22 to 2023-24) to ease immediate pressures on 
budgets. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) will continue to 
work with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and local 
government on the detailed operation of the scheme – including the accounting, audit and 
reporting implications – with a view to providing guidance to councils later in the year. 

3.45 Council is asked to note the estimated position in respect of collection rates for council 

tax and business rates for 2020/21.    

Net effect – General Fund 

3.46 The emergency will have a major impact on the ability to deliver the budget in 2020/21, as the 
loss of income and additional costs are expected to exceed government grant receivable.  The 
combination of irrecoverable income losses and additional expenditure for the whole year 2020/21 
is estimated to be circa £1.831m. This excludes the impact from Collection Fund losses as we 
await clarification on how these will be treated. 

3.47 It is evident that Covid-19 has created the most challenging financial environment that the Council 
has ever faced. Coupled with ongoing uncertainty on the response to the pandemic and 
continued impact of the changes in government funding arrangements, especially the future of 
business rates and the economic climate, present particular concerns for the Council’s budgets 
moving forward. Absorbing these losses through the use of reserves alone will have a profound 
and lasting impact on our future financial sustainability and, if not dealt with, will remove the 
council’s capacity to achieve its corporate priorities and be to the ultimate detriment of 
Cheltenham’s residents and businesses. It is of paramount importance that the Council aims to 
keep the level of its reserves robust and therefore a proposed strategy to deal with these losses 
and provide further resilience for the current financial year and the following two financial years is 
proposed in Section 4. 

4. Financial Strategy to address the gap 

4.1 The Government’s policy of phasing out revenue support grant and allow, in due course, councils 
to benefit from a higher share of business rates created a need for this Council to develop a long-
term strategy which was significantly different from that followed in past years.   

4.2 Covid-19 has had a fundamental impact on that strategy which has clearly presented a new risk 
given the volatility of the economy. An element of that risk has been offset in 2020/21 through 
Section 31 grants to compensate councils for a package of reliefs and discounts that were 
announced at the beginning of the pandemic in respect of business rates. 

4.3 The move to local business rates retention may not be so positive post Covid-19 as it is clear that 
the economy will take many years to recover. The Government’s desire is to make sure that the 
system is fair and that there is a balance between incentives and managing risks, however, 
business rates retention may create another obstacle in the Government’s commitment to unite 
and level up the country.   

4.4 The scale of potential budget savings as a result of Covid-19 will require significant work to deliver 

Page 14



 

 Page 13 of 32  

 

them within the agreed timescales and there is a danger that this could divert management time 
from the delivery of services to achieving savings.  Regular progress meetings to monitor the 
delivery of savings will need to be matched with performance against the corporate strategy 
action plan to ensure that resources are used to best effect and prioritised. 

4.5 Some of our income-streams like car parking may never return to the levels pre-Covid and so 
work has continued to look at alternative options to replace that income through the use of our 
significant asset portfolio.  

4.6 A report from the Executive Director Finance and Assets on the assessment of the “Going 
Concern” status was presented to the Audit, Compliance and Governance Committee on 22nd 
July 2020. This is an assessment of whether an authority, its functions and services will continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

4.7 The Council does hold reserves that could be put forward to offset some of these losses but it is 
now clear that we need to reprioritise some of the initiatives planned in the February budget to 
ensure the Council remains financially viable and be creative by re-focussing and re-energising 
our asset portfolio to ensure they are being used to maximum benefit. Some assets are 
considered surplus to requirements and it is proposed that we look to generate maximum receipts 
from sale proceeds. 

4.8 The Executive Director Finance and Assets has reviewed the existing capital programme and the 
council’s existing asset base in order to assess the potential for generating additional capital 
receipts. Having completed comprehensive research, the Council needs to be proactive in using 
existing legislation to apply capital resources to fund revenue expenditure. In addition, it is 
proposed that capital receipts will be applied to repay debt, thus reducing the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) commitment which currently represents £2.062m expenditure in the current 
financial year 2020/21. 

4.9 We have significant land ownership including the recently purchased 120 acres at West 
Cheltenham, we own many assets including an airport, over 5,000 homes, the freehold interest in 
the Regent Arcade, a supermarket, almost 200,000 sq ft  of prime office accommodation, a depot, 
parades of secondary retail outlets, industrial units, start-up units, theatres, cultural venues, a 
Lido, a leisure centre, multiple car parks and many more which make a contribution to the 
prosperity of Cheltenham and the wider economy. 

4.10 In addition, we have an asset to debt ratio of 0.44 which is extremely strong. The asset to debt 
ratio is a measure of a company's financial risk. That is, it measures how much of a company's 
debts could be paid off by selling its assets in case of liquidation. If it is less than 0.5, the 
company's ratio is strong, because the company is easily able to service their debts if they have 
to. If the ratio is large, like over 0.5 or especially over 1, more of the expenses are being paid by 
borrowed money, which might indicate less stability. 

4.11 The strategy proposed below cannot be applied by every District Council as fundamentally 
Cheltenham is unique in comparison to many others. We have assets valued at in excess of 
£0.5Bn which is an extremely strong portfolio compared to our peers and is the overwhelming 
reason why we will continue to be a going concern and have the ability to ensure Cheltenham 
Borough Council is well placed to lead on the recovery from Covid-19. 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

4.12 Capital expenditure is generally expenditure on assets which have a life expectancy of more than 
one year e.g. land, buildings, and vehicles. Such expenditure, when financed through borrowing, 
is spread over several years in order to try to match the years over which such assets benefit the 
local community through their useful life. The manner of spreading these costs is through an 
annual MRP which effectively matches the debt repayments.  

4.13 MHCLG regulations require full Council to approve an MRP statement and a variety of options are 
provided to councils to calculate this revenue charge and the Council must satisfy itself that the 

Page 15



 

 Page 14 of 32  

 

provision is prudent. A local authority may change the method(s) that it uses for calculating part or 
all of its MRP at any time. Where a local authority changes the method(s) that it uses to calculate 
MRP, it should explain why the change would better allow it to make prudent provision. The 
revised MRP Policy is attached at Appendix 2. 

4.14 The Council predominately uses option 3 (set out in the policy in Appendix 2), the annuity method, 
for making prudent provision of MRP. Under this option, councils are allowed by statute to use 
capital receipts for the repayment of any borrowing previously incurred. The application of capital 
receipts to repay debt would reduce the level of MRP chargeable to revenue. When the Council 
uses its capital receipts to redeem borrowing, the value of the MRP which would otherwise have 
been set aside for that year will be reduced by the amounts which have instead been repaid from 
capital receipts. This results in a prudent level of MRP, as there will be no reduction in the overall 
level of funding set aside to redeem debt. 

4.15 To be clear, it is proposed that whilst this change in policy will still ensure prudent provision, the 
change in policy is a short-term treatment to meet the challenge of the extraordinary financial 
climate we are currently presented with. The projections within the MTFS in future years assume 
MRP will be met in full from revenue. However, the temporary application of capital receipts to 
repay debt in both 2020/21 and 2021/22 will reduce the level of MRP chargeable to revenue by 
£1.657m per annum. This will enable the Council to balance its budget in the current financial 
year and provide further resilience in 2021/22. 

4.16 In addition, a change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP Guidance was the allowance that 
any charges made over the statutory MRP, voluntary revenue provision (VRP) or overpayments, 
can, if needed, be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent. In order for these 
sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, the policy must disclose the cumulative overpayment 
made each year. Up until the 31st March 2020 the total overpayments was £0.889m and it is 
projected that this will be circa £1.4m by 31st March 2023. In order to utilise the voluntary 
overpayments to provide additional in-year resources when required, the revised MRP Policy 
attached at Appendix 2 reflects this change.  

4.17 Council is therefore asked to approve the revised Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
policy as detailed in Appendix 2. 

4.18 In order to realise the significant capital receipts required to deliver the proposal above, the 
Cabinet requested the Executive Director Finance and Assets to review the existing capital 
programme and the asset register. The recommendations from those reviews are as follows: 

Capital Programme 

4.19 The Cabinet recognises the importance of the town centre as part of our Covid19 recovery 
response however; we need to consider the allocation of funding for the High Street within the 
context of the Council being financially sustainable to lead that recovery.  The existing capital 
programme earmarks funds to deliver phase 2 of the High Street public realm works at The 
Strand and Cambray Place, in conjunction with Gloucestershire County Council.  This report 
outlines the reality of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and the urgent need to redirect 
resource to meet other financial pressures.  Engagement with the County Council has already 
begun in mapping out the implications of potential changes in the funding available and how this 
might be approached.  

4.20 Officers are currently exploring how some level of funding could be utilised to support the delivery 
of the High Street Project and our economic recovery. One option is to utilise a reduced level of 
base CBC funding and explore the potential re-purposing some of the ERDF funds secured for 
bio-diversity works.  This may give scope for some innovative solutions. Reassessing the design 
to focus on a more environmentally sound and economically deliverable solution. 

4.21 Council is therefore asked to approve the reallocation of £1.7m capital receipts previously 
allocated to the High Street works to be reallocated to repaying the MRP. 

Page 16



 

 Page 15 of 32  

 

 

Asset disposals 

4.22 The Capital Strategy, agreed annually by Full Council, and the Investment Property Portfolio 
approved by Full Council on the 13th December 2016 set the following key aims: 

 Support new business to stimulate growth and employment opportunities. 

 Work with partners such as Cheltenham Borough Homes and the Cheltenham 
Economic Recovery Task Force to regenerate sites within the Borough, including 
those owned by the Council. 

 Secure investment in the town to improve commercial and cultural heritage. 

 Ensure our land and property asset portfolio is fit for purpose, secures increased 
income generation, maximises capital receipts and stimulates growth and 
investment in the Borough. 

 Increase the proportion of total income from commercial activities. 

4.23 With the above in mind, the immediate focus has been on those assets held in our portfolio that 
are deemed surplus to operational requirements and are currently low yielding in terms of 
delivering a return to our residents. They are, however, strategically placed to drive economic 
activity and the creation of jobs to deliver much needed housing and commercial opportunities for 
the wider benefit of the whole town and its communities. 

4.24 Whilst the disposal of assets is an executive decision, the Cabinet is keen to ensure any 
disposals are considered in an open and transparent manner. A number of the proposed 
disposals were presented to the Asset Management Working Group on 12th November 2020 for 
consideration, and those views will be captured when the Cabinet determines its final decision. 

4.25 The following assets have been identified and it is anticipated that the proceeds (capital receipts) 
will generate in excess of £4m: 

 Arle Nursery; 

 4 Ledmore Road; 

 Ambrose Street public convenience; 

 Horse & Groom; 

 Idsall Drive car park; 

 Land adjacent to 6 Saville Close; 

 Land at Charlton Kings nursery; 

 Land adjacent to 456 High Street. 
 

4.26 The Cabinet accepts that some of the proposals may not be universally supported by some 
members and some individuals and groups in our communities but that they are put forward for 
the benefit of the whole Borough and to ensure the ongoing viability of the Council and the 
delivery of its priorities. 

4.27 However, the Cabinet also recognises that whilst Covid-19 has expedited the review of the asset 
register, Council has already endorsed the principle of ensuring our land and property asset 
portfolio is fit for purpose, secures increased income generation, maximises capital receipts and 
stimulates growth and investment in the Borough; to a certain extent the Cabinet believes those 
assets identified for disposal should be progressed in any event. 

4.28 Whilst the Council will look to work with partners such as Cheltenham Borough Homes to 
regenerate a number of these sites, it also acknowledges that some sites will be better served 
through Private Sector redevelopment. This will enable best value to be achieved, whilst also 

Page 17



 

 Page 16 of 32  

 

bringing forward suitable development in most instances. 

4.29 The release of these sites will support new business to stimulate growth and employment 
opportunities. They will also help to deliver taxbase growth through council tax and / or business 
rates, CIL income, planning and building control application income, and new homes bonus. In 
addition, through providing opportunities to local developers and promoting sustainable 
development, it is anticipated that social value can be captured. 

4.30 Council is therefore asked to note the identified asset disposals as detailed above. 

Summary 

4.31 The additional costs and losses from income associated with Covid-19 have presented the 
biggest challenge ever to this Council in delivering a balanced budget. The strategy, outlined 
above, will go some way to ensuring the Council has a solid financial platform to lead the 
recovery.  

4.32 Council is therefore asked to approve the virements, summarised at Appendix 3, in order 
to deliver a revised balanced budget in 2020/21, with a balancing contribution of £130,000 
being met from the car parking equalisation reserve; a specific earmarked reserve created 
to fund fluctuations in income from the closure of car parks. 

5. The Golden Valley Development – home of Cyber Central UK  

5.1 One of the Council’s key ambitions is to make Cheltenham the Cyber Capital of the UK, creating a 
national centre of excellence for the cyber sector and wider tech industries that will be an engine-
room for long-term inclusive growth for Cheltenham, Gloucestershire and the wider region 
https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/  

5.2 The Golden Valley Development – home of Cyber Central UK sets a vision for a campus style 
development focused around innovation in the cyber sector, driving forward the UK’s mission to 
be a science superpower and global lead in cyber security. It also seeks to deliver up to 4,000 
homes, directly contributing to another CBC priority regarding housing delivery and achieving a 
target of 40% affordable homes. The Golden Valley Development is a prominent feature within 
the Council’s approved Medium Term Financial Strategy. Initial estimates suggest that this site 
alone could generate significant additional business rates, of which under existing regulations, 
Cheltenham would retain 40%. It will also generate additional council tax and new homes bonus.  
It is also important to consider the wider impact and economic significance this campus would 
have; attracting a wide range of international corporates / primes to locate and invest in 
Cheltenham and the surrounding region. There is also scope for it to make a pioneering 
contribution to a third council priority to be carbon neutral.  Of equal importance is the role GCHQ 
adds to the town’s wider economy.  Securing the long-term presence and development GCHQ in 
Cheltenham is important to future economic outlook. The delivery mechanism being followed by 
the Council seeks a Development or Joint Venture partner, who when appointed will provide a 
financial return on the Council’s investment which is structured around supporting long-term 
financial stability.  It is important to emphasise that the project objectives relate to the delivery of 
social, economic, community and financial benefits. As the selection process progresses over the 
next few months a balance will need to be taken as to the level and nature of financial return 
sought against the level of other benefits. Of growing importance is understanding how this 
project could play a leading role and exemplar of a low carbon environment supported by smart 
city infrastructure.  Details of these agreed overarching objectives are included in Appendix 6. 

5.3 The Project’s objectives are closely aligned with the national priorities relating to talent 
development, science & digital innovation, housing delivery, levelling-up, green recovery and 
employment growth.  The Council is leading the delivery of this project, based on the significant 
economic and social opportunity that is presented. The Council has purchased land adjacent to 
GCHQ to ensure this ‘once in a generation’ opportunity is maximised to the benefit of the town 
and wider region. The cyber industry is valued at £8.2Bn in the UK and has doubled in value in 

Page 18

https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/


 

 Page 17 of 32  

 

the last two years. Covid-19 is likely to enhance the need for the UK to develop a greater 
commercial and government led response to cyber security threat, but also our ability to be able 
to do online business safely.  

5.4 Since purchasing the land, the case for investment has increased and the vision strengthened 
considerably. A recent economic study commissioned shows a strong eco-system already thriving 
in Gloucestershire, with the largest concentration of cyber business in the UK outside London, 
with Cheltenham peaking with 11 times the level of activity in other hot spots and jobs growth in 
this sector of 34% in the last 5 years.  

5.5 The vision for Cyber Central is focused around its compelling Value Proposition, based around 
the creation of a unique ‘quadruple helix’ of innovative potential; bringing together big / micro 
business, academia, and government. Layered over this are the other important offers of 
accessibility, development land, strong leadership and investment via the public sector, the 
existing strength of the eco-system anchored by GCHQ and the lifestyle / environment 
Cheltenham has to offer. When packaged together this provides a strong case for investment.  

5.6 Following an intensive review period in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, the feedback received 
from investors, developers, cyber businesses and government departments such as DCMS and 
DiT is that this project carries even greater significance to the UK’s post pandemic recovery to 
stimulate growth in a reshaped economy outside of the EU. This flagship development seeks to 
be an attractor to a wide range of businesses that will develop talent and skills with the potential 
to generate considerable long-term social value and wider regeneration.  The scheme aims to 
deliver the following outputs: 

 Between 2,000 and 5,000 jobs and circa 700 homes in the first tranche of development 
(on the CBC owned land 45 hectares) 

 Other phases of development will see the campus / garden community extend over the 
full 200 hectares with over 2 million sq ft of employment space and c.4000 homes (in 
total).  

 This would see potentially circa 12,000 jobs, with employee wages of £436m with a gross 
GVA of £837m (in total). 

 This would see an increase in business rates of c.£15m per annum, council tax of £1.27m 
per annum, and New Homes Bonus contribution of £4m (over 4 years under current 
arrangements although this incentive based grant is likely to change post 2021). 

 A financial return on the Council’s investment and costs which would be structured to 
support long-term financial sustainability, but also be balanced against other project 
drivers (exemplar integrated development, cyber leadership, economy, housing, climate 
change, regeneration and social value). 
 

5.7 The importance of this sector was further enhanced through the announcements of 
Gloucestershire’s awards for the ‘Build Back Better Fund’ seeing 4 out of 5 schemes focused 
around cyber growth. The priority scheme was the new Minster Innovation Exchange in the heart 
of Cheltenham which provides accelerated delivery of the first significant step towards delivery of 
Cyber Central. This has drawn in a further £3.1M investment into the town and will charge the 
thriving cyber sector.  

5.8 It is also essential that the Council maximise the opportunities in engaging with global firms in this 
sector, as interest grows in the scheme. This will allow the market to respond in an innovative 
way, and provides potential for a delivery and payback timeline that will see early wins in terms of 
high value jobs and economic growth.   

5.9 To deliver a programme of this importance and magnitude requires considerable upfront 
investment.  Cheltenham Borough Council has invested considerable funds in leading the Golden 
Valley Development which currently stands at in excess of £40m. At the outset of the project, the 
Council agreed to commit funds to maximise the opportunity that could arise from growth in this 
sector and the delivery of land at West Cheltenham. This resulted in a unanimous Council 
decision supporting the purchase of 45 hectares of strategically important development land in 

Page 19



 

 Page 18 of 32  

 

August 2019. Since then the project has progressed considerably, now attracting national interest 
and support. 

5.10 Considering the emerging position of the housing and office markets post pandemic, it is 
important we take a longer term view to investment and return – to enable major infrastructure 
challenges to be dealt with appropriately and maintain the highest standards of development and 
innovation. As part of our journey to seek a development and investment partner the council 
proposes to make available the value of the land, significant sums towards housing innovation 
and delivery (£100m for private housing and potential uplift for affordable housing through its 
Housing Revenue Account).  The development partner / joint venture approach is predicated on 
our ability to support a short to mid-term cash-flow model, enabling major infrastructure 
investment and high quality outputs. Our ability to use our reserves and borrowing capabilities are 
therefore essential.  

5.11 In delivering the project to date additional contributions of £642k (including external funding bids, 
stakeholder contributions, partnership working etc.) to support the project budget have enabled 
the momentum to be maintained and opportunities promoted at a national level.  This investment 
into the project delivery and the high profile marketing and promotional campaign has resulted in: 

 MHCLG Garden Communities Programme status 

 Supplementary Planning Document adopted for the Golden Valley Garden Community 

 J10 HIF funding of £239M in March 2020 

 High profile launch in May 2020 attracting strong market interest during UK lockdown. 

 A well advanced procurement process to secure a development partner, about to start the 
Final Bid Stage. 

 Significant market interest from primes and SMEs in the cyber and associated tech 
sectors. 
 

5.12 It was not originally envisaged how quickly the project would progress, nor the extensive interest 
and support received nationally. This has also brought a level of additional complexity and 
governance that requires a greater level of project resourcing. Most other major investment 
schemes have been deferred or delayed due to uncertainty in the market. However, interest in the 
Golden Valley Development has strengthened. If the opportunities set out above are to be fully 
pursued, additional resources are required to support and sustain that level of activity. In the 
period leading up to March 2022 the following key actions are required:  

 Appoint a development partner. 

 Appoint a strategic finance business partner to assist the Executive Director Finance and 
Assets to assess the bids, financially appraise future opportunities and provide financial 
governance to the programme.  

 Secure planning consent. 

 Continue to engage with leading operators, key businesses, innovators and investors that 
will enable this to become an internationally important development.  

 Continue the ongoing promotion of the scheme to different markets, potential 
stakeholders, government bodies and other interests. 

 Establish an effective contract / joint venture management framework leading up to and 
following the contract award. 

 As part of the dialogue process, establish the most effective way to maximise the outputs 
set out in the council’s vision whilst securing best consideration of the council’s 
investment. 

 
  

5.13 The next six to twelve months will be the crucial stage of this project. It is proposed the level of 
activity in a number of key work-streams is increased.  It is important that we are able to provide 
bidding parties with the confidence in the scheme’s investment value arising from interest from 
market leading primes as potential occupiers. It is also important that we fully support the final 
stage of the procurement by providing a joined-up approach linking the collaborative work with 
third party land interests and the emerging proposals for our preferred development partner, 

Page 20



 

 Page 19 of 32  

 

whilst managing the commercial and financial interest of the Council. Consideration also needs to 
be given to the transition of the project into the management of the development contract which 
will be at a significant scale. 

5.14 In order to facilitate and maintain the level activity and scale-up the work-streams identified, 
seeking to deliver the vision and maximise the economic and social benefits it is estimated that a 
further budget provision of up to £1.5m is required.  This provision will however be balanced 
against a number of funding bids and stakeholder contributions that maybe successful, for 
example; further capacity funding from Homes England for the Garden Communities Programme 
is pending and further contributions are sought from partner organisations based on the wider 
economic benefits across the county. In addition, it is likely that not all the work-streams will 
require the full estimated budget provision. Therefore, it is likely that the actual cost to the Council 
could be considerably less.  Regular budget monitoring will be undertaken as part of the ongoing 
governance arrangements through the Executive Project Board, so that this financial exposure 
can be carefully managed. 

S106 funds 

5.15 Members will recall that the Council received a section 106 sum of £1m from a developer which in 
effect was a penalty payment for not providing affordable housing on the site, and was classified 
as a ‘Relocation Sum’ (being the difference between the value of the site with and without 40% of 
the dwellings being affordable).  

5.16 The agreement does not specify any conditions or restrictions on the use of the £1 million sum, 
although the underlying principle behind the agreement was that it should be spent on affordable 
housing on the basis that the sum was received in lieu of such housing being provided by the 
developer.  

5.17 The accounting treatment of all grants and section 106 contributions depends initially on whether 
there are any conditions, which if not met means the money has to be repaid. As there are no 
conditions, the receipt has been credited to the Income and Expenditure account; the 
consequential entries will be to the service cost centre if it is to be used for revenue purposes or 
to capital grants and contributions if is to be used for capital purposes.   

5.18 In October 2018, Council approved an allocation of £300k from this sum to support ‘seed funding’ 
to Cheltenham Borough Homes to realise the Council’s ambition to provide affordable housing 
and private rented sector housing to meet the needs of its residents. 

5.19 Subject to viability, a proportion of the overall units at West Cheltenham, may be sold to 
Cheltenham Borough Homes (CBH) for lettings in the private rented sector with the balance sold 
on the open market (potentially through a Joint Venture partner) – with both the sales to CBH and 
the open market sales helping to cross subsidise the overall development and mitigate the long-
term risk of holding the land. The combined borrowing power and proposed future approach will 
enable significantly accelerated delivery of the council’s housing and community ambitions 

5.20 Given that one of the key drivers for the delivery of the Golden Valley development is 
affordable and sustainable housing, Cabinet supports and recommends to Council that the 
remaining £700k balance of this sum is used to finance the ambitions and budget 
requirement as set out above. 

Flexible use of capital receipts strategy 

5.21 As part of the November 2015 Spending Review, the Government announced that it would 
introduce flexibility for the period of the Spending Review for local authorities to use capital 
receipts from the sale of assets to fund the revenue costs of service reform and transformation. 
Guidance on the use of this flexibility was issued in March 2016 which applied to the financial 
years 2016/17 through to 2019/20. In December 2017, the Secretary of State announced that this 
flexibility would be extended for a further 3 years (until 2021-2022).  

Page 21



 

 Page 20 of 32  

 

5.22 The Council is required to prepare a “Flexible use of capital receipts strategy” before the start of 
the year to be approved by Council which can be part of a budget report to Council.  This Strategy 
therefore applies to the financial year 2021/22 which commences on 1st April 20021. 

5.23 The Executive Director Finance and Assets has determined that the Cyber Central (Golden Valley 
Development) initiative is a “Collaboration between local authorities and central government 
departments to free up land for economic use” and therefore meets the definition of qualifying 
expenditure.  

5.24 As stated on many occasions, the principles of the latest settlement allow authorities to spend 
locally what is raised locally, which is why the Council is so focussed on keeping our investments 
within our own Borough.  

5.25 All of our strategies and policies align behind legislation and guidance but are tested to ensure 
our ambitions can be achieved. Prudent estimates suggest the commercial element of the Golden 
Valley development will deliver in excess of £15m in new business rates alongside rental potential 
via ground leases and direct landlord activity.  

5.26 In addition, circa 700 new homes will deliver in excess of £1.2m in council tax per annum as well 
as attracting New Homes Bonus under the existing financial regime. It is therefore, clearly evident 
that the expenditure for which the flexibility can be applied (set up or implementation costs) will 
generate ongoing revenue in future years which will be utilised to improve the quality of service 
delivery in the future.  

5.27 Council is therefore asked to approve the flexible use of capital receipts strategy as 
detailed in Appendix 4 which will apply to the financial year 2021/22, utilising £0.8m of 
capital receipts to part-fund the implementation costs of bringing the Golden Valley 
development forward. 

6. 2021/22 Budget Process 

6.1 The responsibility for preparing the budget in line with the Council’s policy framework, taking 
proper account of technical and professional advice and presenting proposals to Council for 
approval, lies with the Cabinet. Whilst it is customary for the Cabinet Member for Finance, at this 
time of year, to present a report on the budget process, she is mindful of the unprecedented 
circumstances which make it impossible to predict what the future holds on so many fronts. 

6.2 The Treasury has confirmed the Comprehensive Spending Review will only set departmental 
budgets for next year, due to the economic disruption caused by Covid-19. 

6.3 A statement from the Treasury said: “In order to prioritise the response to Covid-19, and our focus 
on supporting jobs, the chancellor and the prime minister have decided to conduct a one-year 
Spending Review, setting department’s resource and capital budgets for 2021/22, and devolved 
administration’s block grants for the same period. While the government would have liked to 
outline plans for the rest of this parliament, the right thing today is to focus entirely on the 
response to Covid-19 and supporting jobs - that’s what the public would expect.” 

6.4 The budget and policy framework requires that the Council publish a timetable setting out the key 
dates in the budget setting process. With the above statements in mind, a draft budget timetable, 
attached for approval at Appendix 5, sets out the sequence of events leading up to the setting of 
the budget and council tax level for 2021/22. 

6.5 In approaching the budget setting process for 2021/22, the Cabinet will endeavour to adhere to 
some well-established principles designed to deliver budget proposals in a timely manner 
following proper process, including: 

 Early and clear direction input from Cabinet and the Executive Leadership Team. 

 Ensuring that Financial Services maintain a strong role in moderating the process. 

Page 22



 

 Page 21 of 32  

 

 Executive Director Finance and Assets (Section 151 Officer) to lead and advise on 
strategic budget issues. 

 Agreeing Cheltenham Borough Homes (CBH) management fee and Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) budget as early as possible. 

 Maintaining good communications between the Chief Executive, Executive Leadership 
Team, Council Leader, and Cabinet Member for Finance over budget progress / issues. 

 Ensuring consultation with all stakeholders and ensure that employees are aware. 

 Including the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Budget Scrutiny Working Group 
in the budget process. 
 

6.6 During November 2020, the Cabinet Member for Finance and officers will work with the Cabinet 
towards the creation of ‘interim budget’ proposals which will make the following assumptions: 

 The projection will be for a standstill budget, prepared under a general philosophy of no 
growth in levels of service. Inflation for contractual and health and safety purposes will 
only be allowed where proven at the appropriate inflation rate.  

 Budget for employee pay inflation and an increase in member’s allowances of 2% for 
2021/22, recognising that the Chancellor has already indicated pay constraint to take into 
account the wider economic context. 

 The current MTFS only assumes inflation on fees and charges at an average rate of 2% 
annually over the 4-year period for green waste, burial and cremation fees. These 
increases will be assumed in the preparation of the standstill budget and any deviation 
from this will form part of the interim budget proposals, recognising that the 12-month 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) rate was 0.5% in September, up from 0.2% in August.  

 The vast majority of fees and charges are generated within the Place and Growth Division 
and a target of £50,000 per annum is set within the existing approved strategy for more 
targeted reviews of income generation, as opposed to a blanket increase across the 
board to reflect market forces and CPI.   

 The impact of prevailing interest rates on the investment portfolio will be assessed in 
preparing the budget. The Treasury Management Panel will consider the position in 
respect of treasury management activity during the budget setting cycle. 

 An assessment of the charges to be made to Cheltenham Borough Homes and the 
Housing Revenue Account will be incorporated in the budget proposals, including 
assessing the impact on the General Fund of the changes to the housing benefit subsidy 
system. 

 Whilst a council tax increase of 2.00% has been used for modelling purposes, the Cabinet 
is mindful that the package of support measures and the impact from Covid-19 on its own 
resources is unprecedented. Tax rises are inevitable and the Cabinet will await the 
announcements from Central Government when determining the council tax increase for 
2021/22. 

 Proposals for service growth will be included, where supported. 
 

6.7 The Cabinet will present its initial budget proposals and publish them for consultation in line with 
the advertised plan. The initial budget proposals will include all general fund revenue, capital and 
housing revenue account estimates to meet a balanced budget, together with assumptions made 
on future council tax and rent levels. 

6.8 Council is therefore asked to approve the budget-setting timetable at Appendix 5 and note 
the 2021/22 budget process outlined above. 

7. Business Rates Retention – Pooling 

7.1 In October 2012, Council approved the principle of Cheltenham joining the Gloucestershire 
Business Rates Pool, subject to a thorough assessment of risks and rewards and agreement of 
satisfactory governance arrangements. 

7.2 Continuation within the pool was delegated to the Section 151 Officer and Chief Executive and 

Page 23



 

 Page 22 of 32  

 

this is reviewed on an annual basis. 

7.3 The Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool was set up in 2013/14 to maximise the business rate 
income retained within the County and to support economic growth within the area of the Local 
Enterprise Partnership. 

7.4 Given the economic uncertainty from Covid-19, the anticipated level of business rates due to this 
Council in 2021/22 is difficult to predict. With the reliefs and discounts being provided by Central 
Government in the current financial year, the Council is still above the baseline funding target 
(Cheltenham’s target level of retained Business Rates) which will result in Cheltenham still being 
liable to a ‘levy’. Clearly, if similar reliefs and discounts are continued in 2021/22 the Council will 
be in a similar position. 

7.5 Taking the above into account, it is the opinion of the Section 151 Officer that this Council will 
benefit from remaining in the pool in 2021/22 as it will result in a reduction in the levy payment 
due to Government, which will be distributed in accordance with the governance arrangements. 
Once the settlement has been announced and there is more clarity on how business rates will be 
funded in 2021/22, we reserve the right to withdraw and the final decision will be communicated to 
Members as part of the final budget proposals. 

7.6 Council is therefore asked to notes the intention for this Council to remain in the 
Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool in 2021/22 as outlined above and note that the 
Council reserves the right to withdraw after the local government finance settlement 
announcement. 

8. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) - Revised Forecast 2020/21 

Revenue 

8.1 The forecast revenue position after the first six months of 2020/21 shows a negative variance of 
£149,000 from budget, reducing the operating surplus for the year to £1,201,000 (previously 
£1,350,000). The following significant revenue variations have been identified: 
 

 Additional costs of £340k relating to the HRA share of the Golden Valley project are now 
included. 

 Interest Payable has been reduced by £244k to reflect a lower borrowing requirement 
following Covid-19 related delays to the Capital Programme. 

 Interest Receivable has been increased by £55k to reflect the higher level of reserves 
brought forward from 2019/20. 

 Additional Covid-19 related one-off costs have been forecast at £60k for the year. These 
include protective equipment, cleaning and sanitising, risk assessments and tenant mail-
outs. 

 
Other smaller variations relate to the following: 
 

 During lockdown Universal Credit cases substantially increased, our cash halls were 
closed, and rental collection dropped.  Overall the fall in rent collection was restricted to 
97.18% in Quarter 1 of 2020/21 with the collection rate increasing to just over 100% of the 
rent charge in Quarter 2 due to proactive work with tenants (this reflects that the Council 
has recovered more in the period than rent charged thus reducing arrears brought 
forward).  Rent arrears rates continue to be below the average for the sector although 
higher than projected in the budget. 

 Void properties are higher than budgeted at 0.9% therefore dwelling rents are expected to 
be slightly lower this year as a result. The higher void rate is due to the Coronavirus 
lockdown extending re-letting periods. 

 There were 9 Right to Buy sales to the end of September 2020 which is in line with the 
budget of 20 for the year; 7 properties have been acquired this year which is much lower 

Page 24



 

 Page 23 of 32  

 

than the budget of 25 - this is mainly due to Covid-19 lockdown restrictions.  Acquisition 
activity is returning to normal levels since lockdown has been lifted. 

 The forecast for non dwelling rents has been reduced to reflect lower car park income and 
reduced income from several of our commercial units following rent deferments. These 
reductions are specifically related to Covid-19. 

 
Capital 

8.2 The HRA capital programme shows a reduction in forecast spend of £9.732m, now at £20.044m 
compared to the original budget of £29.776m. The programme has been impacted by the 
Coronavirus pandemic. The following significant variations have been identified: 
 

  

Note 

Original 
Budget          
2020/21 

£m 

Forecast 
2020/21 

 
£m 

Variance 
 
 

£m 

Major voids including Option Appraisal 
Voids 

a 
0.700 0.624 0.076 

New heating installations b 1.238 0.684 0.554 

Door entry schemes c 0.269 0.453 (0.184) 

Lift replacements d 0.135 0.028 0.107 

Fire protection works & carbon 
monoxide detectors 

e 0.150 0.243 (0.093) 

Windows and Doors f 2.800 1.707 1.093 

Internal Improvements - communal 
areas 

g 
0.225 0.710 (0.485) 

HRA new build h 20.000 11.320 8.680 

     

 
Notes  
 

a) Conversion works at Belmont Lodge will be delayed into late 2020/21 and early 2021/22 

due to priority being given to larger Capital programmes.  

b) Replacement of Electric heating and 2 Communal Heating systems has been delayed by 

Covid-19 and are now programmed for 2021/22. This will ensure that sheltered residents 

are not impacted by any temporary loss of heating during the winter months. 

c) The door entry project is expected to cost more than originally budgeted as the 

programme has changed from an upgrade to a replacement. We initially planned and 

investigated an upgrade to the equipment in order to reduce costs however after further 

work and competitive tender and to ensure we have a solution for the long term the best 

option has been confirmed to be a full replacement. 

d) Lift replacement at Bendall House will be delayed until 2021/22. The project has been 

delayed by Covid-19 and further expert advice is being sought on whether to overhaul or 

replace. 

e) Following planned works additional remedial works, particularly to Fire Door panels has 

been identified at Wallace & Goldfoot House. 

f) Contractors were off site for approximately four months due to COVID. A supplier of fire 

doors with updated fire certification has now been identified by our supplier. The fire door 

replacements will now take priority over window replacements which will roll into 2021/22. 

g) The communal lighting works programme has been delayed due to one contractor 

entering administration and having to retender these works.  In addition, as the 

programme has been carried out this year additional works have been identified to ensure 

compliance as well as improve energy performance. 

Page 25



 

 Page 24 of 32  

 

h) Covid-19 restrictions led to delays on schemes which are currently on site as well as the 

ability to progress acquisitions.  This has pushed back all related work.  Opportunities and 

schemes have not been ‘lost’ during this time but the whole programme has been 

delayed. 

 

9. Alternative options considered and Section 151 Officer advice 

Use of Reserves 

9.1 The requirement for financial reserves is acknowledged in statute. Sections 32 and 43 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 require billing authorities in England and Wales to have 
regard to the level of reserves needed for meeting estimated future expenditure when 
calculating the budget requirement. 
 

9.2 Within the statutory and regulatory framework, it is the responsibility of the Section 151 Officer 
to advise the authority on its level of reserves that should be held and to ensure that there are 
clear protocols for their establishment and use. Councillors, on the advice of the Section 151 
Officer, should make their own judgements on such matters taking into account local 
circumstances. The adequacy of reserves can only be assessed at a local level and requires a 
considerable degree of professional judgement. The assessment needs to be made in the 
context of the authority’s MTFS, its wider financial management, and associated risks over the 
lifetime of the plan. The Secretary of State has reserved powers to set a minimum level of 
reserves to be held by councils if required. 
 

9.3 Reserves should not be held without a clear purpose. Should it be considered that the level (or 
proposed levels of reserves) is inadequate then a report must be made to Council outlining how 
this has arisen and what action should be taken to prevent a reoccurrence in subsequent years. 
 

9.4 As part of the annual budget setting process and in reviewing the MTFS, the Council needs to 
consider the establishment and maintenance of reserves. These can be held for three main 
purposes: 

 

 a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves; 

 a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – this also 
forms part of general reserves; 

 a means of building up funds (earmarked reserves) to meet known or predicted 
requirements. 
 

9.5 In assessing the adequacy of reserves and balances for 2020/21, the Section 151 Officer used a 
risk-based approach to assess the appropriate level of general balances which calculated the 
optimum level to be £1.219m. As at 31st March 2020, the General Fund Balance was £1.273m 
and therefore is marginally above the optimum level recommended by the Section 151 Officer.  

9.6 In accepting the mandate from Government that “Councils will now have to shoulder some of the 
burden”, we do accept that reserves should not be held without a clear purpose, and therefore 
accept that some of our reserves may need to be deployed to counter some of the losses 
incurred.  

9.7 If Members are not minded to support the proposed strategy as detailed in Section 4, The Council 
could release £846k from general balances based on the most recent assessment. In addition, it 
could release £525k from dedicated earmarked reserves i.e. a total of £1.371m although this 
would still leave a projected shortfall in this financial year of £460k which would need to be found 
through other means. 

Page 26



 

 Page 25 of 32  

 

9.8 In taking this course of action, Members would need to be aware that in the opinion of the Section 
151 Officer, this would leave the balance of our reserves at a precariously low level and make it 
difficult for him to sign off the adequacy of reserves, via his Section 25 report, in the course of 
setting the budget for 2021/22. Members would need to make extremely difficult choices in terms 
of service provision in future years to enable the Council to replenish its reserves in future years.   

9.9 Given the uncertainty surrounding the longevity of the pandemic and the crippling effect it is 
having on the economy, coupled with the uncertainty on future local government finances, the 
Section 151 does not support this option. 

Section 114 notice 

9.10 Section 114 (1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 places a duty on the Section 151 
Officer to report certain matters to the authority. The duty of the Section 151 Officer to report is 
triggered if they believe that a decision involves (or would involve) unlawful expenditure a course 
of action is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency an entry of account is unlawful.  

9.11 Likewise, the Section 151 Officer must inform the authority where they believe that the authority’s 
expenditure is likely to exceed available resources. The authority is prevented from entering into 
any agreements incurring expenditure until the Council has considered the report. 

9.12 However, CIPFA proposes that there should be a temporary modification to existing guidance in 
order to create an opportunity, within existing statutory limits, to enable an exploration of what 
further options and/or financial assistance may be available which this report inevitably tries to 
cover.   

9.13 The proposed modifications are as follows:  

 At the earliest possible stage, a Section 151 Officer should make informal 
confidential contact with MHCLG to advise of financial concerns and a possible 
forthcoming Section 114 requirement.   

 The Section 151 Officer should communicate the potential unbalanced budget position 
due to COVID-19 to MHCLG at the same time as providing a potential s 114 scenario 
report to the council executive (Cabinet) and the external auditor. 
   

9.14 In practice this means it should not normally be necessary for a Section114 report to be issued 
while discussions with the government that would address the issue are in progress. 

9.15 At the request of MHCLG, the Section 151 Officer has communicated his concerns. These 
discussions confirmed that a Section 114 notice would result in an immediate and severe 
curtailing of activity to the provision of non-statutory services. Even those statutory services, like 
waste collection, may be subject to reduction in frequency. The lists below will largely be 
replicated in many other councils at the District tier of local authorities. 

9.16 Services that would continue with some at de-minimis levels could include:  

 Waste and recycling collection (e.g. reduced to 3 weekly)  

 Street cleaning   

 Planning & licensing  

 Building control 

 Crematorium (to support Covid-19 response)  

 Environmental health  

 Housing (via Cheltenham Borough Homes)  

 Council tax and rates collection  

 Housing benefit  

 Parking services  
 
9.17 Services that could be curtailed/stopped  

Page 27



 

 Page 26 of 32  

 

 Commercial and growth strategy including ceasing the flagship Golden Valley 
development 

 Closure of Leisure and culture facilities (via our Trust)  

 All economic development & regeneration  

 Closure of the Household Recycling Centre at Swindon Road (CBC operates a well-used 
discretionary service independent of the 5 sites operated by Gloucestershire County 
Council) 

 Ending of any financial support to visitor economy  

 Parks, gardens and grounds maintenance (resulting in some closures)  

 Cease CBC led schemes that seek to develop affordable housing  

 Closure of public toilets  

 Ending of recognised programmes to prevent Child Poverty and deprivation 

 All programmes to tackle climate change and reduce carbon emissions 

 Re-starting of seagull egg oiling  
 

9.18 In summary, a section 114 notice would effectively lead to a wide-ranging deconstruction of public 
facilities and services which would impact everyone who lives, works and visits Cheltenham. It 
would also damage future plans for growth, reduce employment, job creation and leave the 
spaces and places of Cheltenham in an increasingly deteriorating state which would be more 
costly to repair and revitalise as time progressed. The Council needs to show appropriate 
leadership in the recovery and therefore, for obvious reasons, the Section 151 does not support 
this option. 

Exceptional support from Central Government 

9.19 The Council, via its Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer, could apply to the Government for 
exceptional support. This would inevitably require a comprehensive assessment of the Council’s 
finances to ensure all options have been explored. 

9.20 Given the unprecedented support of in excess of £4.6Bn to the sector to support additional 
expenditure, financial packages delivered to provide support to businesses and individuals, and 
the income compensation scheme to cover a proportion of losses from sales, fees and charges, it 
is unlikely that any additional support would come in the form of an unconditional grant. 

9.21 It is likely that exceptional support would come in the form of capitalisation directives (allowing 
Council’s to use capital receipts or borrowing to fund revenue expenditure) or deferral of 
payments – effectively ‘kicking the problem into the future’. 

9.22 The strategy proposed in this report at Section 4 uses existing legislation to use capital receipts to 
fund revenue expenditure without requesting intervention from Government.  

9.23 Given the uncertainty surrounding the longevity of the pandemic and the crippling effect it is 
having on the economy, coupled with the uncertainty on future local government finances, the 
Section 151 does not support the option of making a specific approach to government for 
intervention at this stage. 

10. Conclusion 

10.1 Legislation does not prescribe how much the minimum level of reserves should be. The Section 
151 Officer is tasked with recommending the minimum level of reserves required as part of the 
budget setting process having regard to elements of risk in the Council’s finances. Section 25 of 
the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Section 151 Officer to report on the adequacy of the 
Council’s financial resource. 

10.2 In coming to a decision in relation to the revenue budget, the Borough Council and Councillors 
have the following legal duties:  

 To act in accordance with their statutory duties and responsibilities; 

Page 28



 

 Page 27 of 32  

 

 To act reasonably; and  

 To have careful regard to their fiduciary duty to its rate payers and council tax payers.   
 

10.3 When making decisions, councillors are reminded of the obligation to act reasonably and in 
accordance with the principals set down in the Wednesbury case. This means that councillors are 
required to take into account all relevant considerations and ignore any irrelevant considerations. 
Put simply, it would be unlawful for the Council to come to a view which is unreasonable in the 
sense that it is so irrational that no reasonable authority could have reached it.  

10.4 The meaning of fiduciary duty is more difficult to define but can be summarised as a duty to 
conduct administration in a business-like manner with reasonable care, skill and caution and with 
due regards to the council’s rate payers. When discharging their fiduciary duties councillors will 
need to consider the following:  

 Prudent use of the council’s resources, including the raising of income and the control of 
expenditure;  

 Financial prudence both long and short term;  

 Striking a fair balance between the interest of the tax payers on the one hand and the 
community interest and adequate and efficient services on the other hand;  

 Acting in good faith with a view to complying with statutory duties and exercising its 
statutory powers for the benefit of the community. 
 

10.5 The decision for applying Council resources to meet the unprecedented impact from Covid-19 lies 
with Council, but the unequivocal advice from the Section 151 Officer is to support the 
recommendations set out in this report. 

11. Consultation 

11.1 The Asset Management Working Group has been meeting during the course of the year and has 
made a positive contribution to the asset disposal and acquisition process in considering various 
aspects of the property portfolio. The group met on 12th November 2020 and comments have 
been fed back to the Cabinet 

11.2 The Budget Scrutiny Working Group has been meeting during the course of the year and has 
made a positive contribution to the budget setting process in considering various aspects of the 
budget leading to its publication. The group met on 9th November 2020 and comments have been 
fed back to the Cabinet. 

11.3 The Treasury Management Panel has been meeting during the course of the year and has made 
a positive contribution in monitoring the performance of the Council’s treasury management 
strategy and investment portfolio.  

Report author Contact officer: Paul Jones, Executive Director Finance and Assets     
paul.jones@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264365 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. Revised MRP Policy 2020/21 

3. Budget virements for approval – 2020/21 Revised Budget 

4. Flexible use of capital receipts strategy 2021/22 

5. 2021/22 budget setting timetable 

6. Golden Valley development overarching objectives 

Page 29



 

 Page 28 of 32  

 

Background information 1. Assessment of the going concern (Audit, Compliance and 
Governance Committee 22nd July 2020). 

2. General Fund Revenue and Capital – Revised Budget 2019/20, 
and Final Budget Proposals 2020/21 (Council 17th February 2020) 

3. Capital, Investment, Treasury and MRP Strategies and Statements 
2020/21 (Council 23rd March 2020). 

 

 

Page 30



 

 Page 29 of 32  

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x 
likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk ref. Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date raised I L Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
Officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

CR3 If the Council is unable 
to come up with long 
term solutions which 
close the gap in the 
medium term financial 
strategy then it will find 
it increasingly difficult to 
prepare budgets year 
on year without making 
unplanned cuts in 
service provision. 

Cabinet 01/09/2010 5 3 15 Reduce The budget strategy 
projection includes 
‘targets’ for work 
streams to close the 
funding gap which 
aligns with the 
council’s corporate 
priorities.   

Ongoing ED Finance and 
Assets 

01/09/2010 

CR105 If the Budget Strategy 
(Support) Reserve is 
not suitably resourced 
insufficient reserves will 
be available to cover 
anticipated future 
deficits resulting in the 
use of General 
Balances which will 
consequently fall below 
the minimum required 
level as recommended 
by the Section 151 
Officer in the council’s 
Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 

ED 
Finance 
and 
Assets 

01/04/2016 5 4 20 Reduce The MTFS is clear 
about the need to 
enhance reserves 
and identifies a 
required reserves 
strategy for managing 
this issue.  In 
preparing the budget 
for 2020/21 and in 
ongoing budget 
monitoring, 
consideration will 
continue to be given 
to the use of 
fortuitous windfalls 
and potential future 
under spends with a 
view to strengthening 
reserves whenever 
possible.   

Ongoing ED Finance and 
Assets 

 

1.02 If income streams from 
the introduction of the 
business rates retention 
scheme in April 2013 
are impacted by the 
loss of major business 

ED 
Finance 
and 
Assets 

14/09/12 5 4 20 Accept 
& 
Monitor 

The Council joined 
the Gloucestershire 
pool to share the risk 
of fluctuations in 
business rates 
revenues retained by 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 

ED Finance and 
Assets 

 

P
age 31



 

 Page 30 of 32  

 

and the constrained 
ability to grow the 
business rates in the 
town then the MTFS 
budget gap may 
increase. 

the Council.   
 
The Gloucestershire 
S151 Officers 
continue to monitor 
business rates 
income projections 
and the performance 
and membership of 
the pool / pilot.  
 
Work with members 
and Gloucestershire 
LEP to ensure 
Cheltenham grows its 
business rate base. 
 
 

 
 

1.03 If the robustness of the 
income proposals is not 
sound then there is a 
risk that the income 
identified within the 
budget will not 
materialise during the 
course of the year. 

ED 
Finance 
and 
Assets 

15/12/10 4 4 16 Reduce Robust forecasting is 
applied in preparing 
budget targets taking 
into account previous 
income targets, 
collection rates and 
prevailing economic 
conditions. 
Professional 
judgement is used in 
the setting / delivery 
of income targets. 
Greater focus on cost 
control and income 
generation will be 
prioritised to mitigate 
the risk of income 
fluctuations. 

Ongoing ED Finance and 
Assets 

 

1.07 If the assumptions 
around government 
support, business rates 
income, impact of 
changes to council tax 
discounts prove to be 
incorrect, then there is 

ED 
Finance 
and 
Assets 

13/12/10 5 3 15 Reduce Work with Publica 
and countywide 
CFO’s to monitor 
changes to local 
government financing 
regime including 
responding to 

Ongoing ED Finance and 
Assets 

 

P
age 32



 

 Page 31 of 32  

 

likely to be increased 
volatility around future 
funding streams.  

government 
consultation on 
changes Business 
Rates and the Fair 
Funding review. The 
assumptions 
regarding government 
support have been 
mitigated to a certain 
extent by the 
acceptance of a multi-
year settlement 
agreement. 

New 

corporate 

risk 

If government support 
to compensate this 
Council for the impact 
of COVID-19 is 
insufficient, greater 
reliance will be placed 
on the use of reserves, 
service reduction and 
asset sales.  

ED 
Finance 
and 
Assets 

13/12/10 5 3 15 Reduce The Council will 
continue to lobby for 
additional resource, 
as promised by 
Central Government 
from the outset of the 
pandemic.  
 
Work programmes 
are underway to 
review service 
provision, capital 
programmes and 
rationalisation of 
assets. 

Ongoing ED Finance and 
Assets 

 

 If failure to appoint a 
suitable development 
partner for the Golden 
Valley Development 
results in potential 
delay of delivery, 
increase in delivery 
costs or a failure to 
meet the council’s 
ambitions for the 
project.  

MD Place 
& Growth 

29.10.20 4 3 12 Reduce The procurement and 
competitive dialogue 
process has been 
designed to minimise 
the risk that an 
unsuitable 
development partner 
will be appointed. In 
addition, the dialogue 
process allows for 
flexibility to identify, 
manage and mitigate 
potential risks to the 
delivery of the 
scheme and consider 

Ongoing 
(until final 
close / 
contract 
award) 

MD Place & 
Growth 

 

P
age 33



 

 Page 32 of 32  

 

approaches to 
investment, returns 
and economic and 
social benefits as part 
of the appointment 
process.  

 Failure to appropriately 
fund and resource the 
Golden Valley 
Development results in 
a failure to deliver the 
project and the 
ambitions of the 
proposed scheme. 
Failure to resource the 
programme may result 
in delay, increase 
costs, reduced capacity 
to identify and manage 
risks. This includes a 
reduced ability to draw 
on appropriate 
expertise to ensure that 
the appointment of a 
suitable development 
partner and a fit for 
purpose delivery 
vehicle.  

MD Place 
& Growth 

29.10.20 4 3 12 Reduce A review of the 
programme has been 
completed to project 
and identify 
necessary costs to 
secure appropriate 
capacity and 
expertise to progress 
the Golden Valley 
Development. 
Approval by Council 
of additional funding 
as described in the 
Budget report will 
significantly reduce 
this risk and enable 
ongoing delivery of 
the programme.  

Ongoing MD Place & 
Growth 

 

 
 
 

 

P
age 34



                                                                                                                                       APPENDIX 2 

1 

 

Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2020/21 

Where the Authority finances capital expenditure by borrowing, it must put aside resources to 

repay that debt in later years.  The amount charged to the revenue budget for the repayment of 

debt is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), although there has been no statutory minimum 

since 2008. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have regard to the Ministry of 

Housing, Communities and Local Government’s (MHCLG’s) Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision 

(the Guidance) most recently issued in 2018. 

The broad aim of the Guidance is to ensure that capital expenditure is financed over a period that 

is either reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, 

or, in the case of borrowing supported by Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably 

commensurate with the period implicit in the determination of that grant. 

When applying the ‘annuity’ method, MRP is the principal element for the year of the annuity 

required to repay over the asset’s useful life the amount of capital expenditure financed by 

borrowing or credit arrangements. The authority should use an appropriate interest rate to 

calculate the amount. Adjustments to the calculation to take account of repayment by other 

methods during the repayment period (e.g. by the application of capital receipts) should be made 

as necessary (Paragraph 35 (b) of the Guidance) 

Councils are allowed by statute to use capital receipts for the repayment of any borrowing 

previously incurred (Paragraph 23(b) of The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 

(England) Regulations 2003). The application of capital receipts to repay debt would reduce the 

level of MRP chargeable to revenue, but statutory guidance does not advise on exactly how such a 

reduction should be calculated. When the Council uses its capital receipts to redeem borrowing, 

therefore, the value of the MRP that would otherwise have been set aside for that year will be 

reduced by the amounts, which have instead been repaid from capital receipts. This still results in 

a prudent level of MRP, as there will be no reduction in the overall level of funding set aside to 

redeem debt in the year 

The Guidance requires the Authority to approve an Annual MRP Statement each year, and 

recommends a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of MRP.  The following 

statement incorporates options recommended in the Guidance as well as locally determined 

prudent methods: 

 For capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, MRP will be determined in 

accordance with the former regulations that applied on 31st March 2008, modified 

to a more prudent basis as permitted by the Guidance. Since 2016/17 such MRP has 

been based on repaying the non-housing debt in equal annual instalments over a 35-

year period (this is Option 1 in the Guidance). 

 For capital expenditure incurred after 31st March 2008, MRP will be determined by 

charging the expenditure over the expected useful life of the relevant asset in 

equal instalments or equal to the principal repayment on an annuity with an annual 

interest rate equal to the average relevant PWLB rate for the life of the asset, 

starting in the year after the asset becomes operational (Option 3 of the guidance). 

 If capital receipts have been used to repay borrowing in the year then the value of 

MRP which would have otherwise been set aside to repay borrowing will be reduced 

by the amounts which have instead been repaid from capital receipts, subject to 

the MRP remaining above Nil. The level of capital receipts to be applied to redeem 

Page 35



                                                                                                                                       APPENDIX 2 

2 

 

borrowing will be determined annually by the Executive Director Finance and Assets 

(Section 151 Officer), taking into account forecasts for future expenditure and the 

generation of further capital receipts (Option 3 of the guidance).  

 MRP on purchases of freehold land will be charged over 50 years, except where the 

land is subsequently held for sale as part of an Investment / economic development 

/ regeneration project (in which case no MRP will be charged, the debt being 

repaid by applying the capital receipts / sale proceeds when received), or where 

the land is being held for future council development (in which case the MRP will 

be based on the asset life of the building(s) resulting from the development, 

commencing the year after those building(s) become operational).  

MRP on expenditure not related to fixed assets but which has been capitalised by 

regulation or direction will be charged over 20 years. 

 For capital expenditure loans to third parties that are repaid in annual or more 

frequent instalments of principal, the Council will make nil MRP, but will instead 

apply the capital receipts arising from principal repayments to reduce the capital 

financing requirement. In years where there is no principal repayment, MRP will be 

charged in accordance with the MRP policy for the assets funded by the loan, 

including where appropriate, delaying MRP until the year after the assets become 

operational.  

 A change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP Guidance was the allowance that 

any charges made over the statutory MRP(i.e. voluntary revenue provision (VRP) or 

‘overpayments’), can be reclaimed’ in later years if deemed necessary or prudent 

by offsetting some or all of the ‘overpayments’ made against the current or future 

years’ MRP. In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this 

policy must disclose the cumulative ‘overpayment’ made to date. Up until the 31 

March 2020 the total overpayments was £0.889m. 

No MRP will be charged in respect of assets held within the Housing Revenue Account.  

Capital expenditure incurred during 2020/21 will not be subject to a MRP charge until 2021/22 or 

until the year after an asset becomes operational. 

Based on the Authority’s latest estimate of its Capital Financing Requirement on 31st March 2020, 

the budget for MRP and voluntary revenue overpayments (or VRP) has been set as follows: 

 

31.03.2020 

Estimated CFR 

£m 

2020/21 

Estimated 

MRP/VRP 

£m 

Capital expenditure before 01.04.2008 6.887 0.222 

Capital expenditure after 31.03.2008 91.259 1.657 

Loans to other bodies repaid in instalments 7.434 0.012 

Voluntary overpayment  n/a 0.171 

Total General Fund 105.580 2.062 

Housing Revenue Account 71.118 Nil 

Page 36



                                                                                                                                       APPENDIX 2 

3 

 

Total 176.698 2.062 

 

Overpayments: In earlier years, the Authority has made voluntary overpayments of MRP that are 

available to reduce the revenue charges in later years, subject to the overall MRP charge in each 

year being not less than nil (i.e. negative) . It is planned to make a further £171,441 overpayment 

(known as Voluntary Revenue Provision or VRP) in 2020/21.  

 

MRP Overpayments £ 

Expected balance 31.03.2020 889,486 

Planned overpayment/(drawdown) 2020/21 171,441 

Forecast balance 31.03.2021 1,060,927 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



BUDGET VIREMENT 2020/21 APPENDIX 3

VIREMENT

Costc Costc Description Account 2020/21 Reason

    £

Various Employee related expenditure Pay Award 66,000 Additional 0.75% pay award

SUP038 Pensions back-funding Secondary pension contributions -55,000 Negotiated discount on pension back-funding

Various Covid-19 Sales, Fees and Charges 3,496,000 Forecast reduction in income due to Covid-19

COV019 Covid-19 Income support scheme -2,216,000 Government grant due in respect of income support scheme

FIE040 Income and Expenditure on Investment Properties Commercial property income 50,000

FIE030 Interest and Investment Income Investment interest and pooled funds 168,000

COV019 Covid-19

Additional expenditure incurred (net of Housing 

Benefit payments) 1,619,000 Additional expenditure incurred due to Covid-19

COV019 Covid-19 Government grant received -1,536,000 Government grant received in respect of additional expenditure incurred 

RYC007 Ubico Ubico Saving challenge 100,000 Ubico Saving challenge not achieved

SUP107 Modernisation Modernisation Saving target 150,000 Modernisation Saving not achieved

BAL103 Capital Charges MRP Savings -1,657,000 MRP Savings

Various Revenues and Benefits Net saving from New Burdens -55,000 Utilisation of in-house resource to deliver new burdens

Net cost 130,000

RES107 Car Parking Equalisation reserve Contribution from reserve -130,000 net overspend contributed from reserve 

Net Virements for approval 0

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix 4 
 

 Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2021/22 
 
Introduction  
As part of the November 2015 Spending Review, the Government announced that it would 
introduce flexibility for the period of the Spending Review for local authorities to use capital 
receipts from the sale of assets to fund the revenue costs of service reform and 
transformation. Guidance on the use of this flexibility was issued in March 2016 which 
applied to the financial years 2016/17 through to 2019/20. In December 2017 the Secretary 
of State announced that this flexibility would be extended for a further 3 years (until 2021-
2022).  
 
The Guidance  
The guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 15(1)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 2003 specified that;  
 

 Local authorities will only be able to use capital receipts from the sale of property, 
plant and equipment received in the years in which this flexibility is offered. They 
may not use their existing stock of capital receipts to finance the revenue costs of 
reform.  

 

 Local authorities cannot borrow to finance the revenue costs of the service reforms.  
 

 The expenditure for which the flexibility can be applied (known as ‘Qualifying 
Expenditure’) should be the up-front (set up or implementation) costs that will 
generate future ongoing savings and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs or 
the demand for services in future years. The ongoing revenue costs of the new 
processes or arrangements cannot be classified as qualifying expenditure.  

 

 The key determining criteria to use when deciding whether expenditure can be 
funded by the new capital receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate ongoing 
savings to an authority’s net service expenditure.  

 

 In using the flexibility, the Council will have due regard to the requirements of the 
Prudential Code, the CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and the 
current edition of the Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice.  

 
To make use of this flexibility, the Council is required to prepare a “Flexible use of capital 
receipts strategy” before the start of the year, to be approved by full Council. This can form 
part of the budget report to Council. This Strategy therefore applies to the financial year 
2021/22, which commences on 1st April 2021.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



  Appendix 4 
 

 
 
Examples of qualifying expenditure 
There are a wide range of projects that could generate qualifying expenditure and the list 
below is not prescriptive. Examples of projects include: 
 

 Sharing back-office and administrative services with one or more other council or 
public sector bodies;  

 

 Investment in service reform feasibility work, e.g. setting up pilot schemes;  
 

 Collaboration between local authorities and central government departments to 
free up land for economic use;  

 

 Funding the cost of service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation (staff or 
non-staff), where this leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service transformation;  

 

 Sharing Chief-Executives, management teams or staffing structures;  
 

 Driving a digital approach to the delivery of more efficient public services and how 
the public interacts with constituent authorities where possible;  

 

 Aggregating procurement on common goods and services where possible, either as 
part of local arrangements or using Crown Commercial Services or regional 
procurement hubs or Professional Buying Organisations;  

 

 Improving systems and processes to tackle fraud and corruption in line with the 
Local Government Fraud and Corruption Strategy – this could include an element of 
staff training;  

 

 Setting up commercial or alternative delivery models to deliver services more 
efficiently and bring in revenue (for example, through selling services to others);  

 

 Integrating public facing services across two or more public sector bodies (for 
example children’s social care, trading standards) to generate savings or to 
transform service delivery.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



  Appendix 4 
 

 
 
The Council’s Proposals  
 
The Government has provided a definition of expenditure which qualifies to be funded from 
capital receipts. This is: “Qualifying expenditure is expenditure on any project that is 
designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services and/or 
transform service delivery to reduce costs and/or transform service delivery in a way that 
reduces costs or demand for services in future years for any of the public sector delivery 
partners. Within this definition, it is for individual local authorities to decide whether or not 
a project qualifies for the flexibility.”  
 
The Council has determined that the Cyber Central (Golden Valley Development) initiative is 
a “Collaboration between local authorities and central government departments to free up 
land for economic use” and therefore meets the definition of a project that will generate 
qualifying expenditure. 
 
The Council therefore intends to use the following use of capital receipts to fund the Cyber 
Central (Golden Valley Development) initiative and the savings generated by this project are 
set out in the table below:  
 

 2021/22 

£m 

2022/23 

£m 

2023/24 

£m 

2024/25 

£m 

Programme costs (set-up/implementation) 0.800    

Savings / additional base budget income 
generated 

 
0.150 0.350 0.500 

 
 
Impact on Prudential Indicators  
 
The guidance requires that the impact on the Council’s Prudential Indicators should be 
considered when preparing a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy. The council’s current 
capital programme does not utilise the capital receipts that will be generated to fund the 
above programme. Therefore, there will be no change to the council’s Prudential Indicators 
that are contained in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5

Budget / Business Planning Process 2021/22 – Timetable of key stages / dates

July - November 2020 Executive Leadership Team work with the Cabinet Member for Finance to 

identify options for efficiencies and additional income

16th October 2020 Deadline to submit taxbase calculation - (CTB1 figure used in New Homes 

Bonus calculation).

22nd October 2020 Government confirmed one year spending review

TBC Budget Scrutiny Working group - review the draft budget strategy and to 

consider input to interim budget proposals and report directly to Cabinet

TBC Treasury Management Panel to consider budget estimates for treasury 

management budget assumptions

30th November 2020 Deadline for preparation of the budget on basis of xxxx  (e.g. Ubico, Leisure  & 

Culture Trust, CBH, Publica and shared services). In addition, proposals for 

savings / income and growth to be identified for the council and its partner 

organisations.

December 2020 Provisional Finance settlement

1st  December 2020 Calculate taxbase figure for Section 151 Officer. Sign off under delegated 

powers and production of briefing note for Cabinet Deputy after council 

decision on 7th December re council tax support scheme 

7th December 2020 Council approves council tax support scheme. 

9th December 2020 Section 151 officer signs off taxbase

15th December 2020 Cabinet present interim budget proposals for consultation incorporating partner 

organsations budgets including proposals for growth, savings and levels of 

fees and charges and projection of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

(MTFS)

16th December 2020 to 20th January 2021 Cabinet consult on interim budget proposals including Overview and Scrutiny 

committee, public and the business community

December 2020 Joint Liasion Forum - Trade Union 

4th January 2021 Recalculate taxbase, if necessary, and confirm or amend figure under 

delegated powers

4th January 2021 Advise all precepting authorities (including parishes) re. relevant taxbase 

figures

7th January 2021 Budget Working group - review consultation and make recs to O&S committee 

on budget

18th January 2021 O&S Committee consider recommendations from budget working group and 

forward to Cabinet/Council

11th January 2021 Treasury Management Panel – consider final recommendations to Cabinet in 

respect of treasury management activity

25th January 2021 Deadline for preparation of final council budget incorporating final proposals for 

savings / income and growth from partner organisations.

30th January 2021 Approve final NNDR1 estimate and advise County Council and MHCLG

30th January 2021 Deadline for submission of alternative budget proposals to Financial Services 

for validation.

February 2021 Final Finance Settlement

3rd February 2021 Police & Crime Panel notify level of precept

16th February 2021 Cabinet present final budget proposals including response to consultation 

exercise

22nd February 2021 County Council due to approve budget and set Council Tax level

Page 1

Page 45



Appendix 5

22nd  February 2021 Council meet to approve Cheltenham Borough Council budget - approve 

proposed Cabinet or alternative budget (approved in principal) and the Council 

tax resolution (includes GCC and police tax)

24th - 26th February 2021 Council tax bill processing 

26th February - 9th March 2021 Council tax bills printed/packed

By 14th March 2021 Bills to be issued (14 days notice required before first payment - some 

payments due on 1st April)

*Throughtout the process, financial services and senior managers will work with trade unions for the purpose of 

ensuring genuine consultation around proposals which may have HR implications. 

Page 2

Page 46



  Appendix 6 

Golden Valley 

Council’s Strategic Objectives & Vision as set out in Outline Submissions Document 

 

Strategic Objectives  

 1. Golden Valley Development Vision: To deliver an ambitious, globally relevant and pioneering 

community. Integrating cyber related research and development and connected commercial 

activities, with complementary and exemplary residential and leisure uses  

2. Cyber Central UK: At the commercial heart of the Golden Valley development, create and 

effectively operate Cyber Central, the UK home of cyber.  Supporting the UK in becoming a global 

leader in the cyber tech sector.    

3. High Quality Housing:  To deliver high quality housing as part of this integrated garden 

community, designed to create strong communities with a mix of tenures and housing types, 

particularly focused towards the needs of younger people.  

4. Regeneration & Integration:  Through effective master planning and inclusive growth, create one 

of the best places to live, work, rest and play. As an exceptional garden community, integrating 

cutting edge innovative commerce with new homes and existing communities.   

5. Long Term Financial Return:  To secure a mix of capital and revenue returns over the medium to 

long term to provide the Council with a long term stewardship interest in the Golden Valley 

development to ensure that all costs associated with the Council’s initial capital outlay for the land 

all associated costs are recovered as a minimum.   

 

Aspirations 

In seeking to achieve the overarching strategic objectives, the council has set out below its far-

reaching aspirations:   

 To explore emerging and innovative methods of construction that would see accelerated 

delivery without compromising on qualitative outputs.   

 To maximise wider social benefit, effectively connect with the adjacent communities acting 

as a catalyst for regeneration, job creation and increase productivity.  

 To deliver a development with a low carbon footprint, with the ultimate aim of achieving net 

carbon neutrality, in response to the Council’s declaration of a ‘Climate Emergency’;  

 To create an exceptional garden community with a high-quality environment. A place that 

has soul, in which buildings, public realm and public spaces far exceed the current standard 

or norm of business parks, science campuses and residential developments.   

 To maximise the delivery of housing numbers, creating a truly innovative housing offer that 

blurs the edges of the commercial uses and existing communities. Propose a design that is 

‘tenure blind’, innovatively using and integrating open space and community facilities.  

Page 47



  Appendix 6 

 To maximise the potential arising from the scheme unique selling point: Cyber Central – the 

creative and innovative soul, enhancing the bringing together of GCHQ, business & academia 

in creating the UK home of cyber-tech to the benefit the local and regional economy and 

spearhead the mission to become a leading global cyber nation.    

 To establish an innovative partnership that delivers long-term financial returns, built around 

the Council’s award-winning commercial approach and competitive funding capacity.     

 To explore use of smart-city technology to ensure the infrastructure for the site is 

futureproofed and enables the fastest levels of connectivity and technological innovation.  

 

 

Page 48



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 1 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Cabinet - 10th November 2020. 

Council - 16th November 2020. 

Minster Innovation Exchange  

(Formerly known as Workshop Cheltenham) 

 

Accountable member Rowena Hay, Cabinet Member for Finance 

Accountable officer Executive Director – Finance and Assets 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key/Significant 
Decision 

Yes  

Executive summary On 8th October 2019, Cabinet approved the recommendation to support the 
creation of the Workshop Cheltenham development, including a tier 2 
Growth Hub, by Workshop Cheltenham Limited (WSC) on Chester Walk car 
park following a land swap with GCC for part of St George’s Road car park. 

A revision to the original planning approval in June 2019, incorporating a 
change from remodelled shipping containers to modular construction, was 
approved by the Planning Committee on 20th August 2020. 

On 3rd March 2020, Cabinet approved (exempt item) investment up to 
£1.7m in WSC to facilitate delivery of the facility and Council endorsed the 
lending as part of its Treasury Management Strategy on 23rd March 2020. 

The March 2020 Cabinet delegated authority to agree final terms of the 
investment and to set up the most appropriate vehicle for investment in 
Workshop Cheltenham. Independent legal advisors considered a number of 
options and recommended setting up a Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) 
with WSC to manage the building. 

In July 2020, the Government announced a £900m ‘Getting Building Fund’ 
to support economic recovery following the Covid-19 pandemic outbreak, 
co-ordinated by the Gloucestershire First LEP (LEP) under the banner of 
Local Infrastructure Stimulus Fund (LISF). The council made an application 
for funding an enhanced scheme rebadged as ‘Minster Innovation 
Exchange (MIE)’ and received a grant award of £3.114m.   

This report outlines the revised MIE scheme; the outcome of the work to 
establish the best investment vehicle for the council; the funding 
implications taking into account the grant funding and outlines the rationale 
for the waiver of contract procurement rules necessary to facilitate delivery 
of MIE within the government deadlines. 
 
 

Recommendations It is recommended that Cabinet: 

Page 49
Agenda Item 9



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 2 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

1. Approve the council accepting the award of the Getting Building 
Fund grant from the GFirst LEP of £3.114m and delegate authority 
to the Executive Director Finance & Assets, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member Finance and the Borough Solicitor, to agree final 
terms and contract for the Getting Building Fund grant with the 
LEP.  

2. Approve the council accepting the award of the Tier 2 Growth Hub 
residual grant of £433,638 and taking over the role of promoter of 
the Growth Hub and delegate authority to the Managing Director 
Place and Growth, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
Finance and the Borough Solicitor, to agree final terms and 
contract for the Growth Hub grant with the LEP. 

3. Approve the council entering into a joint venture (including the 
incorporation of the new limited liability partnership (LLP)) with 
WSC to manage MIE and delegate authority to the Executive 
Director Finance & Assets, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member Finance and the Borough Solicitor, to: 

a. agree the final terms of the Joint Venture; 

b. approve the form of and the council entering into any 
documents required to put in place or otherwise facilitate 
the creation of the Joint Venture; 

c. take any decisions (to include, without limitation, the 
approval of all documents) considered necessary by the 
Executive Director Finance & Assets to facilitate the creation 
and/or operation of the Joint Venture. 

4. Approve the council entering into a contract with WSC for WSC to 
deliver the design and build of the MIE subject to the final terms 
being agreed and, in accordance with Contract Rule 6.2.1, agree to 
waive the requirements of the council’s Contract Rules to enable 
the design and build agreement to be entered into provided that the 
estimated value remains under the applicable threshold for a full 
procurement process determined by the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015. 

5. Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Finance and Assets, 
in consultation with Cabinet Member Finance, to agree the final 
terms of the design and build agreement and such other 
documents as may be required relating to the construction and 
delivery of the MIE and to approve the council entering all required 
documentation, including a commercial lease to the LLP for the 
management of the MIE.  

6. Approve for consultation the public realm masterplan for the 
Minster grounds at Appendix 6, as outlined in section 8, and 
delegate authority to the Managing Director Place and Growth, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance to respond to the 
feedback from the consultation. 

Recommend for Council to approve:  

7. The gross capital budget for MIE of £4,671,000, as per Appendix 5, 
be incorporated into the council’s budget and capital programme 

Page 50



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 3 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

for 2020/21.  

  

 
 

Financial implications The financial projections for the revised investment proposal for the 
delivery of the MIE based on the council commissioning the construction of 
the MIE and the creation of a new joint venture limited liability partnership 
(LLP) between the council and WSC, taking into account the £3.114m of 
government funding, are included at Appendix 2 (exempt), Appendix 3 
(exempt) and Appendix 4 (exempt).  

Appendix 2 sets out the estimated outcome if the council invests £850k.  
Appendix 3 sets out the estimated outcome if the council invests £1m. 

All funding being utilised by the council will be spent by the council except 
for circa £40k (yet to be agreed) invested into the LLP as a capital 
contribution to provide funding to support pre-letting / marketing activity. 

The council’s involvement in the joint venture is designed to be on 
commercial terms so that the council is acting as a market economy 
operator. 

Appendix 4 updates the business case presented to Cabinet in March 
2020 and shows the overall net impact of the proposal on the council’s 
revenue budget with a reduced level of council investment in the MIE. 

An indicative capital budget for the enhanced scheme is shown in a table 
at Paragraph 7.3 and at Appendix 5. The revised upper limit of borrowing 
required of £1m (net of the government grant), is within the level of original 
upper limit of £1.7m included within the Investment and Treasury strategy 
for 2020/21 approved by Council in March 2020.  

A due diligence process has been undertaken by the LEP resulting in a 
positive report to the LEP Investment Panel by the independent assessor.  

Due diligence is still required on the financial projections for the LLP. 
Based on indicative figures, the breakeven point for the MIE to be 
profitable is 54.5% occupancy if £1m is invested and 53% occupancy if 
£850k is invested.  It is estimated that the occupancy will be an average of 
around 60% for the first year and then grow 5% per annum.  This is in line 
with ventures of this nature.  

Detailed financial implications are set out in section 7 of the report. 

Contact officer: Andrew Knott 

Andrew.knott@publicagroup.uk,  Tel: 01242 264121 

Page 51

mailto:Andrew.knott@publicagroup.uk


 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 4 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

Legal implications The council is being advised by Anthony Collins Solicitors LLP (ACS).  
ACS has provided detailed advice, which supports the proposals outlined 
in the report.  

In summary, the council has the ability to act here through its General 
Power of Competence under the Localism Act 2011. In utilising the 
General Power, it is considered that, notwithstanding the need for the 
council’s involvement to be financially viable and that the LLP will be a 
commercial entity, the council is acting for a dominant regeneration and 
economic development purpose here and not a dominant commercial 
purpose.  This is noted above in this report and in the March 2020 Cabinet 
report discussing the drivers for the council to act here. 

The council must ensure that in acting it complies with its powers to invest 
and borrow.  The council will only be providing a proportion of funding 
directly to the LLP as an unsecured (albeit controlled in accordance with 
the LLP governance) capital contribution.   

The council must also only dispose of land for best consideration to enable 
compliance with both its disposal powers and the rules on State aid.  The 
council considers that it would be acting in accordance with these 
requirements and compliance will be kept under review as the terms are 
finalised. 

The council must only enter into contracts for works, supplies and services 
in compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the 
Constitution.  The valuation of the proposed design and build agreement 
with WSC is below the threshold above which the Regulations apply.  
However, the council does require a waiver of its Contract Rules as 
detailed in this report.  The council will not be procuring the operation of 
the MIE. 

The EU rules on State aid still apply, as at the date of this report and the 
full details of their replacement are not yet known.  It is not considered that 
the council is receiving any unlawful State aid and its arrangements with 
WSC and the LLP are intended to be on commercial terms so that State 
aid does not arise. 

Legal advice will continue to be obtained as the detailed terms of the 
council’s involvement in the MIE are agreed. 

Anthony Collins solicitors LLP 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

The Council is considering the options for the delivery of the Growth Hub. 
Approval is sought to delegate authority to the Executive Director Place 
and Growth, in consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance, to agree 
the contract for delivery of the Growth Hub with the LEP. 

Contact officer: Julie McCarthy HR Manager 
julie.mccarthy@publicagroup.uk Tel 01242 264355 

Key risks  See Appendix 1 

Page 52

mailto:julie.mccarthy@publicagroup.uk


 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 5 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

As outlined in the March 2020 Cabinet report, the MIE supports the 
council’s vision for ‘a town where culture and creativity thrive’. 
 
Research by Nesta and Creative England shows Cheltenham’s 1,027 
creative businesses constitute 11% of the total but employ only 4.5% of its 
workforce and contribute just 6% of its Gross Value Added (GVA). 
Cheltenham’s creative sector is significantly under-performing and there is 
a compelling case to do more to stimulate the contribution it makes to the 
local economy. 
 
The provision of easily accessed start-up spaces, principally for young 
creative entrepreneurs and cyber tech individuals and organisations will 
support a cyber eco system ahead of the Golden Valley development. MIE 
is a key part of the council’s post covid-19 recovery strategy.   
 
The enhanced development of MIE will be a significant regeneration 
project in the vicinity of the Minster and the Wilson and support the 
council’s aspiration to create a thriving cultural quarter in this location.  
 
The use of Chester Walk car park to locate MIE will introduce activity into 
the area adjacent to St Mary’s churchyard. This is expected to have many 
positive benefits, including a likely reduction in the level of antisocial 
behaviour that currently takes place within the churchyard and will 
repurpose an underused public asset. 
 
Additional footfall in this area is likely to have a positive effect on the 
Wilson, including its café. 
 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

Following a change in construction approach, MIE will now be a modular 
building which will reduce its construction carbon footprint. The enhanced 
scheme will include solar panels, external thermal cladding and triple 
glazing with the aim of delivering a building which is operationally carbon 
neutral. 
 
The project team are working with Gloucestershire Local Nature 
Partnership to ensure that MIE and public realm works deliver both carbon 
efficient outcomes and a positive contribution to biodiversity. 
 
The location is also well placed in the town centre, reducing the need to 
travel to it by car. 
 

Page 53



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 6 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

In order to facilitate the delivery of MIE, the council will undertake a land 
swap with GCC. The proposal is to exchange Chester Walk car park for 
61% of St George’s Road car park. In accordance with part 3 of the 
constitution, the exchange of land or property with a value exceeding 
£250,000, sits with Cabinet. A decision to approve the land swap was 
approved by Cabinet on 8th November 2019. 
 
The council will lease the MIE to the LLP for best consideration. It is 
proposed that the LLP will pay a commercial rent for the land to CBC, 
based on 5.5% of gross rental income, capped at £75k per annum. 
 
As per the original Cabinet decision, the Growth Hub will continue to 
occupy part of the development.  Although the LLP is intended to operate 
as a commercial entity the council will seek, in agreeing the final 
commercial terms, to ensure that delivery of the Council’s obligations back 
to the LEP are secured. 
 
The LLP will operate MIE subject to the terms of the lease and in 
accordance with its commercially adopted business plan.   
 
Following negotiations, Cheltenham Festivals will now relocate to the 
development and will now contract directly with the LLP. 
 
The investment in MIE on Chester Walk car park will likely increase the 
value of the site. 
 
The freehold of the MIE will be in the ownership of the council albeit 
subject to the LLP lease for its term. 
 

Contact officer: Simon Hodges  

simon.hodges@cheltenham.gov.uk , 07775418664 

Page 54

mailto:simon.hodges@cheltenham.gov.uk


 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 7 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

1. Background 

1.1 On 8th October 2019, Cabinet approved the recommendation to support the creation of  
Workshop Cheltenham by Workshop Cheltenham Limited (WSC) on Chester Walk car park which 
is owned by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC). The decision included a land swap with GCC 
for part of St George’s Road car park and, following the land swap, the provision for a lease from 
CBC to WSC to access Chester Walk car park to construct the Workshop Development. 

1.2 During the autumn of 2019, WSC attempted to attract external financing to deliver the Workshop 
Cheltenham but as WSC would not have had a freehold interest in the land; it was unable to 
secure external funding. As a result, WSC approached the council to consider an investment in 
WSC to facilitate the delivery of the project.  

1.3 On 3rd March 2020, Cabinet approved (exempt item) investment of up to £1.7m investment into 
Workshop Cheltenham Limited (WSC) at a commercial rate to enable the delivery of the facility, 
taking a share of the net profit from running the facility, subject to obtaining independent advice to 
establish the most appropriate investment delivery vehicle. The Council endorsed the borrowing 
as part of its Treasury Management Strategy at a meeting of Council on 23rd March 2020. 

1.4 In July 2020, the Government announced a £900m ‘Getting Building Fund’ to support economic 
recovery following the Covid-19 pandemic outbreak, co-ordinated by the Gloucestershire First 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) under the banner of Local Infrastructure Stimulus Fund (LISF). 
The council made a funding application, assisted by WSC, for an enhanced Workshop 
Cheltenham scheme rebadged as ‘Minster Innovation Exchange’ (MIE) and was awarded 
£3.114m. 

1.5 This report outlines the revised MIE scheme; the outcome of the work to establish the best 
investment vehicle for the council the funding implications taking into account the award of LISF 
funding and outlines the rationale for the waiver of contract procurement rules necessary to 
facilitate delivery of MIE within the government deadlines. 

2. Investment delivery vehicle – Joint Venture  

2.1 Independent legal advisors, Anthony Collins Solicitors LLP, explored a number of delivery vehicle 
options for investment and recommended the creation of a Corporate Joint Venture (JV). 
Specifically, the advice was that the council and WSC should establish a jointly owned new 
Limited Liability Partnership (LLP). An LLP is a flexible joint venture vehicle, which would be able 
to adapt if new partners came on board or morph to reflect developments in the nature of the LLP. 
The advice also concluded that the land should be leased to the LLP on terms that demonstrate 
best consideration and that funding should be provided through a mix of debt and equity financing 
to achieve the desired councils flows of funding They recommended that a commercial/market 
terms evaluation should be undertaken to record how the council is complying with its State Aid 
obligations and that the council should obtain tax and appropriate financial advice. 

2.2 This advice was shared with and supported by WSC. Although the flows of funding and 
development process have since changed as a result of the award of government grant (see 
section 3 below), the original advice on a new vehicle to manage and operate the MIE still stands.  
This now forms the basis of the legal agreements which are being drawn up to include the final 
terms of the council’s involvement, taking into account the government grant funding.  

2.3 The Cabinet is recommended to approve delegation for the legal agreements for the creation of 
the LLP to be agreed by the Executive Director Finance and Assets, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and the Borough Solicitor, in accordance with delegated powers in 
the March 2020 Cabinet report.   

 

Page 55



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 8 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

 
3. Getting Building Fund grant award / Local Infrastructure Stimulus Fund 

(LISF).  
 
3.1 In July 2020, the Government announced a £900m fund to help kick-start the economy post 

Covid-19 pandemic by funding ‘shovel ready’ infrastructure schemes co-ordinated by the GFirst 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) under the banner of Local Infrastructure Stimulus Fund (LISF). 

3.2 Despite very tight deadlines, council officers worked with the Directors of WSC to submit a 
funding bid for £3.114m for the enhanced MIE scheme. It included the original flexible workspace 
and Growth Hub but the bid also included funding for project management; an enhanced build 
and improved fit out and public realm improvements in the vicinity of MIE i.e. the Minster grounds.  

3.3 The bid was led by the council and sought to meet the following LEP requirements (references to 
the Scheme are to the MIE): 

1. LISF: Deliverability - LISF funding is ONLY available to projects that will have completed 

delivery within 18months (by December 2021) –  

 Being predominantly a modular scheme, the core assembly / construction process is 

relatively rapid (c.18 weeks) with a total of c. 32 weeks required on site including 

preliminary enabling works. 

 

2. LISF: Objective one: Driving up Economic Growth -  

 The Scheme will be a significant extension of the Scheme’s sister facility Hub8 and 

act as a catalytic platform for high value cyber-tech and digital businesses to deliver 

economic growth and create high value jobs. 

 

3. LISF: Objective two: Supporting GREEN recovery -  

 The Scheme transforms a GCC car park, removing hundreds of car movements from 

the town centre, to an exemplar low energy development that promotes the efficient 

decentralised generation and use of natural resources and renewable energy and 

protects the environment. 

 

4. LISF: Priority one: Town & city centre modernisation  

 The Scheme supports regional and national objectives for town centres to embrace 

and adapt to radical changes in working practices and the way in which we shop to 

foster greater social interaction, community spirit and local identity to ensure they 

remain relevant and vibrant places at the heart of our communities and unleash 

longer-term economic potential. 

 

5. LISF: Priority two: Investment in physical connectivity -  

 The overall impact of the Scheme will be transformational, vastly improving 

accessibility, footfall and connectivity to this important but often overlooked town 

centre site. It will enhance direct connectivity between the adjacent Grade I Minster, 

The Wilson museum and art gallery, Cheltenham Library, the High Street and to Hub8 

at the nearby Brewery Quarter. Whilst also reaching beyond the Scheme to better 

connect the Promenade and the bus station with the lower High Street, along with 

enhancing the connectivity of the Honeybourne line links to/from the train station into 

central Cheltenham. 

 

6. LISF: Priority three: Investment in innovation ecosystem -  

Page 56



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 9 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

 The purpose-built Cyber Innovation Facility within the Scheme will be the new focal 

point for the cyber-tech and digital innovation ecosystem where academia, industry 

and government can coalesce, intersect and interact to stimulate tech-led growth that 

is the cornerstone to increasing productivity. 

 

7. LISF: Priority four: Improvements to human capital  

 The Scheme will support our next generation of cyber-tech and digital talent by  

enhancing an existing relationship with Gloucester College (see 

ttp://www.gloscol.ac.uk/) to complement its investment in cyber-tech and digital 

courses to help facilitate integration between students / graduates and industry in the 

form of work placements, apprenticeships and other career progression opportunities; 

 

8. LISF: Priority five: improving digital connectivity  

 The Scheme will enable over 50 businesses / 250 members to connect to a next 

generation digital infrastructure including a direct, independent, ultra-fast, secure and 

resilient dark-fibre connection (in excess of 10GB) and access to and utilise fully 

secure VM or bare metal single servers in a fully supported data centre environment. 

3.4 The proposal submitted to the LEP was to use the LLP to utilise the expertise and procurement 
process undertaken by WSC to deliver MIE ensuring that the scheme remained ‘shovel ready’. 
The bid proposed that the grant would be passported to the LLP on commercial terms to comply 
with State aid requirements and be repaid back to the council over a 10 year period and be re-
invested in future cyber infrastructure.  

3.5 The submission articulated the benefits of the enhanced proposal; included governance 
arrangements for the LLP that would still be created in this scenario. It included a revised profit 
and loss account projection for the LLP which reflected the grant funding and demonstrated the 
financial stability and longevity of the facility, including the Growth Hub. 

3.6 The bid underwent a LEP due diligence process which considered the project outputs against the 
LEP and Government criteria; the financial stability and longevity of the scheme and State Aid 
compliance. The due diligence assessor initially requested that the council provide a guarantee 
plus a clawback of the passported the grant repaid to the council back to the LEP. 

3.7 This process resulted in an addendum to the bid being submitted by the council, which proposed 
that the council lead on the commissioning process and take on the role of ‘promotor’ of the 
Growth Hub rather than WSC. This revised approach was supported by the due diligence 
assessor and removed the need for a guarantee and clawback of the grant repaid back to the 
council by the LLP.   

3.8 This model will see the MIE developed prior to being leased on commercial terms to the LLP.  
The council will contract with WSC through an under-threshold design and build contract to 
deliver the MIE works.  Although the LLP is intended to operate as a commercial vehicle and will 
not be procured by the council to enable delivery of any operational elements of the LISF bid, 
achievement by the council of its obligations to the LEP will be factored into the negotiation of the 
commercial terms for the LLP.  

3.9 The LEP Investment Panel supported the revised bid on 19th August and the LEP Board awarded 
a grant of £3.114m on 1st September 2020.  

3.10 The Cabinet is recommended to delegate authority to the Executive Director Finance & Assets, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance and the Borough Solicitor, to agree final terms of 
the grant delivery contract between the council and GFirst LEP to reflect the commitment to 
outcomes of the Government grant funding. 

Page 57



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 10 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

4. Growth Hub 

4.1 The original Workshop Cheltenham proposal included a Growth Hub, which was to receive £500k 
of capital funding from the LEP which was to be managed by WSC. As outlined above, it is now 
proposed that the council take over the ‘promotor’ role for the Growth Hub, which provides the 
LEP with additional assurance as to its security and longevity. All existing contracts with WSC will 
be terminated and a new contract would be agreed with the council.  

4.2 The LEP are supportive of the Growth Hub being delivered either (i) directly by the council using 
directly employed CBC staff or (ii) via the LLP as per the original proposal. The delivery options 
are being currently evaluated.  Where delivery is to be via the LLP, then this will be built into the 
commercial terms setting up the LLP.  If it is to be delivered by CBC, then this will be factored into 
the property terms with the LLP.   

4.3 The Growth Hub is a model adopted in other districts within the county and provides invaluable 
support to businesses by offering (a) free, impartial diagnostic and brokerage to businesses and 
individuals in Cheltenham Borough and Gloucestershire via the Business Navigator service; (b) 
tailored support depending on size and growth; (c) access to online business support, networking 
events and use of Growth Hub space. 

4.4 The LEP have requested that the council consider the delivery of a virtual Growth Hub, ahead of 
the completion of MIE. This could support economic growth for business impacted by Covid-19 
pandemic and is being explored by officers and the Directors of WSC. 

4.5 The LEP have already advanced £66,362 to WSC towards the creation of the Growth Hub. As 
such, the council will contract with the LEP for the balance of £500,000 grant due i.e. £433,638. 

4.6 The Cabinet is recommended to approve the council taking on the ‘promotor’ role for the Growth 
Hub and delegate authority to the Managing Director Place and Growth, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member Finance and the Borough Solicitor, to agree final terms of the Growth Hub 
contract with the LEP. 

5. Procurement and waiver of contract procurement rules 

5.1 As outlined above, the approach proposed to deliver the original Workshop scheme was for the 
LLP to be both the commissioning body for the procurement of the construction of MIE and for it 
to manage MIE and the Growth Hub.  It would have engaged WSC for support on both aspects. 

5.2 WSC has at risk been engaging with and, in some cases, contracting with suppliers already.  The 
public realm works will be delivered directly by the council (and its procured contractors) and do 
not form a direct part of the MIE. As lead commissioner for MIE, the council will engage WSC 
through a Design and Build agreement to manage the construction of MIE and the various site 
contractors will now be sub-contractors to this contract.   

5.3 The council undertook a due diligence review to ensure that the procurement processes 
undertaken by WSC for the appointment of suppliers of goods and services and works contracts 
(comprising the realisation of the work that the council would engage WSC for) demonstrate best 
value and ensures quality. The review established that WSC had undergone a selection process, 
which mirrored the approach taken by the council in its normal procurement process.  

5.4 For the modular building, the main component of the project and budget, an external consultant 
specialising in modular buildings was appointed to assist in tendering for the supplier who sought 
quotations from a number of modular building suppliers and evaluated and compared price; 
product performance, quality and delivery method statements. An external Quantity Surveyor has 
been employed to support the implementation of the project. Work has been undertaken to 
analyse the overall project budget in order to determine which elements can be tendered through 

Page 58



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 11 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

the normal procurement process within the overall project timeframe.  

5.5 The estimated value of construction of MIE is circa £4.2m, which is less than the current Public 
Contract Regulation 2015 threshold for a full procurement in respect of a works contract 
(£4,733,252).   

5.6 In order to enter into the Design and Build contract, a waiver of the council’s contract rules is 
required by Cabinet in accordance with Contract Rule 6.2.1.  As per Contract Rule 6.1.4, in the 
opinion of the Authorised Officer (Executive Director of Finance and Assets – Paul Jones) in 
consultation with the Deputy Section 151 Officer and the Borough Solicitor the work to be 
executed under the Design and Build contract (i.e. delivery of MIE) is urgent in order to meet the 
government requirement for funding to be a ‘shovel ready’ scheme and to ensure that the council 
can draw down the grant funding obtained.  There are, therefore, exceptional circumstances to 
justify a waiver. 

5.7 Once the LLP is formed, it will enter into such contracts as are necessary for the operation of  
MIE.  This will be determined in accordance with its business plan.  It is anticipated that the LLP 
will be set up so that it is not a contracting authority.  This is a matter that will be kept under 
review during the set up. 

6. Revised funding options / Investment proposal 

6.1 The Government grant and enhanced MIE scheme has impacted on the financial modelling 
approved by Cabinet in March 2020. As such, a revised financial model has been developed.  

6.2 The overarching principles of the revised investment in MIE include the following:  

 The council will be the commissioning body for the procurement of the construction of MIE. 

 The majority of the council and grant funding will be spent directly by the council, but a 
proportion of the council funding/investment will be invested as a capital contribution to the 
LLP to assist with cash flow in respect of the LLPs obligations. 

 The LLP will be the commissioning body for all aspects of the management of WSC. 

 The council investment (£850,000 to £1m) will be paid back by the LLP over a 10-year period. 

 WSC will receive some elements of its return through the fees it charges to the LLP for 
services delivered. 

 The council will receive rent under the lease based upon turnover (5.5% of gross income up 
to a cap of £75,000 per annum. Rent will not be payable in year 1. 

 Net profits will be split 60% to WSC and 40% to CBC.   

 The MIE development will be owned by CBC. 

 The lease will contain provisions in respect of permitted use and disposals (including 
underletting) to allow the council permissible influence over tenants occupying the space 
within MIE.  

 Open book accounting arrangements will apply. 

6.3 The council is in the process of agreeing the terms of: 

 the LLP/joint venture documentation; and 

Page 59



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 12 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

 As a member of the proposed LLP, the agreement between the LLP and WSC for 
management of MIE will be an ‘all inclusive’ management fee on an ‘at cost’ basis.  

Officers are exploring a mechanism to incentivise WSC to exceed financial targets which may be 
considered once the cost base for the LLP has been finalised and agreed between the council 
and WSC, to be considered and agreed using delegated powers outlined in recommendation 3.  
This arrangement may be dealt with either in the LLP legal documentation or the management 
agreement between the LLP and WSC. 

7. Financial implications 

7.1 WSC are working with the Quantity Surveyor to firm up construction costs following the change to 
modular construction. The current estimate of the overall indicative budget for MIE is £4.521m, 
including public realm works. Despite the grant of £3.114m, the project will still require council 
investment of at least £850k to part fund the delivery of MIE. 

7.2 The original Workshop Cheltenham scheme included a contingency for borrowing which allowed 
for unforeseen circumstances. Given the enhanced and more complex nature of the project, it is 
proposed that additional borrowing headroom of £150k is built into the revised overall budget to 
ensure that the revised MIE scheme, including public realm works, can be delivered within the 
challenging deadlines. This would increase the total budget to £4.671m and the upper borrowing 
limit to £1m which is still within the original £1.7m limit approved by Council in March 2020.  

7.3 As such, the Cabinet is requested to recommend that the Council approve the amendment of the 
council’s budget and capital programme for 2020/21 to include the MIE scheme with an indicative 
overall gross project budget of £4.671m, including the borrowing headroom of £150k. A summary 
of capital spend and funding for MIE is included in the tables below and detailed at Appendix 5. 

Capital Breakdown £ 

Preliminaries 62,500.00 

Modular units 3,007,300.00 

Event space 240,000.00 

Furniture and fittings 200,000.00 

Public realm works / 
landscaping (CBC) 355,000.00 

Other Costs  200,000.00 

Total Packages 4,002,400.00 

Professional fees 416,200.00 

Contingency 40,000.00 

Total Scheme Cost 4,521,000.00 

Additional Contingency 150,000 

TOTAL COST 4,671,000.00 

 
 

 Funding Sources:   £ 

LISF grant 3,114,000.00 

CBC loan (upper limit) 1,000,000.00 

 CBC Public match 57,000.00 

LEP GH grant 500,000.00 

  4,671,000.00 

Page 60



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 13 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

 

7.4 In summary, the construction of MIE will be financed from £3.114m of Government grant, £500k 
from the LEP for the Growth Hub and investment of circa £850k to £1m from the council (a 
proportion of the latter will be invested in the LLP as member capital to assist with cash flow and 
initial marketing activity) and £57k of council funding contribution for the public realm 
improvements.  

7.5 Indicative cash flow projections for the LLP showing financing of the council borrowing of £850k 
by the LLP are modelled at Appendix 2 (exempt) and £1m Appendix 3 (exempt). 

7.6 It is proposed that the LLP will repay the council investment (whether spent by the council or 
invested as member capital) on a straight line basis over the 10 year period, based on 1/10th of 
the investment sum with a 5% interest rate payable. This will be the first draw on the gross profit 
and taken directly as a council management cost of running the LLP along with costs such as the 
lease of the land to the LLP, operational management costs for running the facility and other 
associated costs.  

7.7 It is proposed that the council will receive a share of profits based on 60% to WSC and 40% to the 
council which delivers a commercial rate of return to the council. Due diligence will be undertaken 
on the financial accounts produced to calculate this profit split.  

7.8 In addition, following an initial one year rent free period, the council will receive site rent based on 
5.5% of gross income.  

7.9 These payments will offset the opportunity cost of the loss of car parking revenue. An updated 
estimate of the net financial impact taking into account revised MIE income projections is 
contained at Appendix 4 (exempt). 

7.10 Separately to the commercial return, the council will also benefit from additional business rates 
which have yet to be quantified.  

7.11 Independent Tax advice will be sought to ensure that this is minimised for the LLP, CBC and 
WSC.  

8. Public Realm. 

8.1 The public realm in the area surrounding Minster is in a poor state of repair. A budget of £355k for 
public realm enhancements formed part of the grant funding application to provide investment in 
paths; wayfinding; public spaces including seating; lighting and public art within the Minster 
grounds which will create links to the MIE and will also create linkages to the High Street and the 
Wilson. The council already has £57k identified, part of the match funding, for planting and public 
art in the newly created public spaces which will be part of the scheme.  

8.2 The proposed interventions will provide an exciting opportunity to transform the area from one 
which attracts a significant degree of antisocial behaviour to one where people will want to meet 
and spend time.   

8.3 A Public realm masterplan, attached at Appendix 6, outlines the nature of the proposed public 
realm interventions.  

8.4 Cabinet is recommended to approve the public realm masterplan at Appendix 6 for consultation 
with key stakeholders, including the Diocese and delegate authority to the Managing Director 
Place and Growth, in consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance to respond to the feedback 
from the consultation. The detailed proposals will be presented to Cabinet for final approval.  

8.5 Reasons for recommendations 

Page 61



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 14 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

8.6 Despite the government grant funding, if the council does not invest, then the MIE development is 
unlikely to go ahead due to the inability to raise external financing.  

8.7 As a result, the significant regenerative and place shaping benefits to Cheltenham, as outlined in 
this report and the Cabinet reports of March 2020, will not materialise. The MIE is likely to make a 
considerable positive economic impact on the town and is part of its Covid-9 recovery package 
which would be negatively impacted if the scheme were not to proceed. 

8.8 The Council, largely as a result of the government grant, will benefit from a significantly enhanced 
scheme, with improved outputs and outcomes for 50% less investment compared to the 
proposals agreed in the March 2020 Cabinet and Council meetings. 

8.9 The recommendations set out in this report enable the council to proceed with the project and to 
enter into all necessary arrangements and legal documents to facilitate the delivery of MIE and 
the achievement of the resulting benefits to Cheltenham referred to throughout the report.   

9. Alternative options considered 

9.1 Not progressing was considered and discounted given the potential negative impact on the place 
strategy aspirations particularly given the negative economic impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

10. How this initiative contributes to the corporate plan 

10.1 The proposal delivers against one of the key strands of the council’s corporate plan, which is that 
Cheltenham seeks to be a town where culture and creativity thrive. 

11. Consultation and feedback 

11.1 The council and WSC have undertaken considerable engagement with and received support from 
various stakeholders, including Gloucestershire County Council, GFirst LEP, Cheltenham 
Chamber of Commerce, Alex Chalk MP, Cheltenham Festivals, Cheltenham BID, Cheltenham 
Development Task Force, The Cheltenham Trust, Cheltenham Minster, University of 
Gloucestershire, Gloucestershire College, Cheltenham Library and CyNam. 

11.2 The LEP have undertaken considerable analysis of the proposal based on the grant funding bid.  

12. Performance management – monitoring and review 

12.1 The outcomes from the MIE project will be monitored by both the LEP and the council.  Review 
and monitoring mechanisms will be built into both the Design and Build contract and the LLP legal 
documentation. 

12.2 The returns from the council’s investment will be monitored by the councils ELT. 

Report author Contact officer: Mark Sheldon 

mark.sheldon@cheltenham.gov.uk  01242 264123 

Page 62

mailto:mark.sheldon@cheltenham.gov.uk


 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 15 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. Investment proposal - financial projections - £850k borrowing 
(exempt). 

3. Investment proposal - financial projections - £1m borrowing 
(exempt). 

4. Net financial impact on CBC – financial projections (exempt). 

5. Indicative Capital budget for MIE.   

6. Public Realm Masterplan. 

Background information 1. Cabinet report 8th October 2019 Workshop Cheltenham 

2. Cabinet report 3rd March 2020 Workshop Cheltenham – investment 
proposal 

 

Page 63



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 16 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

Risk Assessment                 Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date raised Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

 If the council does not invest 
in MIE, then the facility is 
unlikely to be delivered and 
the place strategy theme for 
being a place where ‘culture 
and creativity thrive’ will be 
negatively impacted. 

Paul 
Jones 

21/2/19 4 2 8 Reduce Cabinet and Council to 
agree an upper limit of 
£1m investment in 
March 2020. 

 Mark 
Sheldon 

 

 If MIE financial projections 
are not realised then the LLP 
may not repay the council’s 
investment in the MIE and 
the commercial terms will 
not be realised. 

Paul 
Jones 

21/2/19 4 3 12 Reduce Undertake further due 
diligence work to provide 
assurance that financial 
modelling is robust. 
Modelling has been 
undertaken which 
provides assurance that 
MIE breaks even at 50% 
occupancy levels. 

 Andrew 
Knott 

 

 If the relationship between 
the Council, LLP and WSC 
for the MIE is not deemed to 
be on commercial terms, 
then the council could be 
considered to be providing 
state aid.  

Paul 
Jones 

21/2/19 4 3 12 Reduce Provide evidence to 
ensure commercial 
returns and seek 
external assurance that 
state aid does not apply. 

 Andrew 
Knott 

 

 If there is a CVA or 
insolvency, the Council’s 
investment in the MIE may 
not be realised 

Paul 
Jones 

21/2/19 4 3 12 Reduce Undertake further due 
diligence work to provide 
assurance that financial 
modelling is robust. 
 

   

 If there is a CVA or 
insolvency, the Council’s 
powers as landlord may be 

Paul 
Jones 

21/2/19 4 3 12 Reduce Explore mechanisms to 
protect the council’s 
interest in agreeing final 

   

P
age 64



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 17 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

inhibited or delayed terms. 

 If the development does not 
proceed or is not a success 
there may be reputational 
consequences. 

Paul 
Jones 

21/2/19 4 2 8 Reduce Cabinet and Council to 
agree the revised 
approach which supports 
the delivery of MIE. 

   

 If MIE tenants are not in line 
with the council’s aspirations 
then MIE could have a 
negative impact on the 
ambition for the delivery of a 
delivery of cyber ecosystem. 

Tim 
Atkins 

21/2/19 4 3 12 Reduce Ensure that occupation 
is controlled within the 
documents, as far as 
legal restrictions allow 

   

 If the council does not 
deliver MIE within the 
timelines required by the 
LEP then the Growth Hub 
grant funding may be at risk  

Paul 
Jones 

28/10/20 4 3 12 Reduce Cabinet to approve the 
waiving of contract 
procurement rules and 
agree to contract with 
WSC to design and build 
MIE. 

   

 If the demand for 
workspaces is impacted by 
coronavirus, then the 
financial projections and 
returns to the LLP and 
council may not be realised 

Paul 
Jones 

28/2/19 4 3 12 Reduce Ensure that the LLP 
actively markets the 
workspaces and links 
with the wider cyber 
development activity in 
West Cheltenham. 

   

 If WSC do not manage the 
delivery of MIE then the 
council will not meet the 
requirements of the LEP 
grant funding.   

Paul 
Jones 

28/10/20 4 2 8 Reduce Due diligence 
undertaken of WSC. 
Ensure legal contracts 
with WSC and LLP 
deliver the construction 
and operation of MIE.  

   

 If the relationship with WSC 
is viewed as an unlawful 
public contract then there is 
a risk that grant will not be 
received. 

Paul 
Jones 

28/10/20 4 2 8 Reduce Ensure that the rationale 
for the delivery approach 
for construction and 
management meets 
legal requirements. 

   

 If WSC viability as a partner 
in/provider to the LLP is not 
credible then MIE 

Paul 
Jones 

28/10/20 4 2 8 Reduce Undertake due diligence 
to ensure that WSC is a 
viable partner in the LLP. 

   

P
age 65



 

 

   

$2upj05cn.docx Page 18 of 18 Last updated 08 November 2020 

 

management may fall to the 
council. 

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

 
 

P
age 66



Document is Restricted

Page 67By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5

Minster Innovation Exchange

Full Scheme Budget £ £ %

1 Preliminaries

1.1 Up-front costs already incurred (incl architect's & planning fees)45,000.00

1.2 Site office 7,000.00

1.3 Storage container incl 1.2

1.4 W.C. incl 1.2

1.5 Hoarding/ fencing 2,500.00

1.6 Temporary water 500.00

1.7 Temporary electric 500.00

1.8 Sundry costs 5,000.00

1.9 W.C. cleaning incl 1.8

1.10 Consumables incl 1.8

1.11 PPE (for visitors) incl 1.8

1.12 First aid incl 1.8

1.13 Fire safety incl 1.8

1.14 Signage incl 1.8

1.15 Insurance incl 1.8

1.16 Delivery and collection of items incl 1.2

1.17 Plant and equipment not included in packages 0.00

1.18 Waste skips 2,000.00 62,500.00 1.34%

2 Packages

2.1 Modular units 3,007,300.00

2.2 Transport and crane costs incl 2.1

2.3 Event space 240,000.00

2.4 Mechanical and electrical incl 2.1

2.5 PV Cells 40,000.00

2.6 Furniture and fittings 200,000.00

2.7 Decking 10,000.00

2.8 Perimeter skirting 5,000.00

2.9 Ramps 7,500.00

2.10 Steps 4,000.00

2.11 Drainage (foul and surface) 20,000.00

2.12 Public realm works / landscaping (CBC) 355,000.00

2.13 Jack pads 40,000.00

2.14 Cycle storage 2,500.00

2.15 Car charging points 4,000.00

2.16 Electricity supply 10,000.00

2.17 Water supply 10,000.00

2.18 Exterior lighting 22,000.00

2.19 Interior planting 20,000.00

2.20 Site preparation 5,000.00 4,002,300.00 85.68%

3 Professional fees

3.1 Architect 67,500.00

3.2 Administration fees (CBC) 30,000.00

3.3 Project management and administration fees (WSC) 120,000.00

3.4 Mechanical and electrical engineer 25,000.00

3.5 Structural engineer 6,000.00

3.6 Landscape architect incl 2.12

3.7 Modular consultant 7,000.00

3.8 Construction Manager 65,000.00

3.9 Quantity Surveyor 22,100.00

3.10 Site Investigation 6,000.00

3.11 Principal Designer (CDM) 2,600.00

3.12 Legal & other professional fees 50,000.00

3.12 Acoustic consultant 15,000.00 416,200.00 8.91%

4 Contingency  (MIE) 40,000.00 40,000.00 0.86%

Contingency  (CBC) 150,000.00 150,000.00 3.21%

TOTAL SCHEME COST: 4,671,000.00 4,671,000.00 100.00%

Funding Sources:  LISF grant 3,114,000.00

CBC loan 1,000,000.00

 CBC Public match 57,000.00

LEP GH grant 500,000.00

4,671,000.00

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



P U B L I C  R E A L M  M A S T E R P L A N

C H E L T E N H A M  M I N S T E R P
age 75



2

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2020

INTRODUCTION

The Minster is the oldest building in Cheltenham and is Grade I Listed. Despite its historic importance there have been a 
number of more recent developments that now surround it which have effectively turned their back on the church and its 
grounds. The resulting effect is that the church has become a forgotten jewel in the town and there have been a number of 
problems with antisocial behaviour in its ground which further reduces visitor numbers. With relatively few people crossing the 
grounds there is little connection between the lower High Street, which is often very busy and Clarence Street to the other side 
where the Wilson Art Gallery and Public Library are located. 

The proposed Pubic Realm improvements follow planning approval for an Innovation Hub on land to the rear of Chester Walk 
in Cheltenham which is now as Workshop Cheltenham. The original scheme was based on the re-use of recycled shipping 
containers [planning reference 19/00204/FUL], however a revised application using bespoke modular construction is currently 
under consideration, with a decision expected on August 13th 2020.

The aspirations of the project remain as originally intended and include a Tier II Growth Hub which will be delivered in 
partnership with GFirst LEP, an event space which will be curated in partnership with Cheltenham Festivals, a cafe and bar, 
and flexible studio space. The studios will be orientated towards the creative industries within the town such as digital, media, 
culture, cyber and technology, and as such the Growth Hub will offer specialist support in these areas.

The event space will be flexible enough to accommodate a variety of uses, from break out meeting areas to a conference hall, 
or for performances in music and the arts. The Culture Board identified the gap of cultural spaces for the 18-30 age group as a 
key missing element in the offering of Cheltenham and has been consulted along the way with the project

The cultural events will be orientated towards young performers and visitors to the county, and will build on the work that is 
already underway such as educational outreach and talent development programmes by Cheltenham Festivals and similar 
programmes by Cheltenham Trust and the theatres, among others. 

Indeed, one of the key aspirations of the project is to provide a cultural “beating heart” for the town centre by providing a 
neutral meeting place where collaboration and cross pollination of ideas can take place. The physical setting of the project is 
therefore key to its integration into the fabric of the town and therefore a wider public realm masterplan is now proposed for 
the immediate area in which the project is based.

The Workshop Cheltenham project is neighboured by Gloucestershire libraries [both the main library and the library annex 
which includes an archive and social services], The Wilson Art Gallery and St. Mary’s Church which is also known as 
Cheltenham Minster. The Minster is the oldest building in Cheltenham and is Grade I Listed. Despite its historic importance 
there have been a number of more recent developments that now surround it which have effectively turned their back on the 
church and its grounds. The resulting effect is that the church has become a forgotten jewel in the town and there have been 
a number of problems with antisocial behaviour in its ground which further reduces visitor numbers. With relatively few people 
crossing the grounds there is little connection between the lower High Street, which is often very busy and Clarence Street to 
the other side where the Wilson Art Gallery and Public Library are located. The intention of the proposals is therefore to create 
a cultural destination that includes the Minster, its grounds, the art gallery, museum and library and the Workshop Cheltenham 
project.

PROPOSAL

ACTIVITY LAWN

Either side of the footpaths will be a new Activity lawn, with electrical connections provided for pop up events and gatherings. 
Seating in this area will be flexible to allow a variety of uses. This feature can be used for outdoor activities by the Minster, 
The Wilson, Workshop Cheltenham or link to the festivals and community events, increasing the frequency of positive public 
activities and animating the space.

MEETING PLACE

New Fixed and flexible accessible social seating is proposed within this area to encourage visitors to spend a little longer in 
the grounds, with more people using the space for positive activities it should help to displace anti-social uses. Additional 
seating will also provide an option to avoid sitting on the historical monuments and gave tables relieving the pressure on these 
features.

BIODIVERSITY GARDEN AND PUBLIC ART

The Minster Grounds are in a poor condition due to a number of factors, but with a poor grass sward, inappropriate shrub 
planting and a heavy tree canopy this does not help to make the space feel welcoming or safe.

As part of the borough’s Habitat Cheltenham project the existing landscape will be redesigned to increase the variety and 
number of plant species. This will involve increasing the species mix of the grass areas with a particular interest in increasing 
the spring and autumn colours to encourage visitors at the beginning of the year and extend the appeal of the space into 
autumn.

Management of the shrub and tree species will also be considered, both to increase the amenity of the space and increase the 
biodiversity. Opportunities to combine art and historical references into the landscape in a practical and appropriate manner 
will also be incorporated. 

Visitor movement through the site will be partially controlled by the planting of wildflower/ bulb planting biodiversity gardens. 
Within the gardens will be allocated zones for public art which will be curated by The Cheltenham Trust which will provide 
much needed outdoor space for sculptures and installations. 

The intention of the proposals is therefore to create a cultural destination that includes the Minster, its grounds, the art gallery, 
museum and library and the Workshop Cheltenham project. Public art plays a vital role in place making. Public art is only 
limited by the imagination of the artist and the guardians of public space. It can be a temporary installation, lighting a building, 
film & video, sculpture, ceramics, metal, textiles, plastic, street furniture, landscaping, a poster, poetry, performance, a website, 
a social enterprise, a shared idea, a new social relationship and more. 

FOOTPATH IMPROVEMENT

Footpaths throughout the site are in poor condition and unpleasant to use in wet conditions and surfaced in tarmac 
unsympathetic to the Grade 1 listing of the Minster. They are also currently unprotected from vehicles illegally using the space 
for parking.

New surfacing is proposed to provide higher quality, fully accessible pedestrian routes, protected from cars. These will follow 
the existing historical path routes but also include a new access into Workshop Cheltenham. Because of the highly sensitivity 
nature of the buried remains within the grounds new path construction will be designed to minimize any ground disturbance 
and will have new surfaces to improve accessibility as well as improving the setting of the church.

LIGHTING

The Minster Grounds support a number of mature large trees and the space is surrounded by tall buildings, consequently 
the space has low light levels even in good daylight conditions. To encourage greater public use, particularly in twilight, it is 
proposed to increase the amenity lighting helping to increase the perception of public safety and to assist way finding with 
sufficient ambient light to be welcoming whilst preserving the special serenity of the grounds.

Additional to this the masterplan seeks to introduce feature lighting to both celebrate the space’s cultural and creative 
connections, and to ‘signpost’ the pedestrian entrances in an imaginative and engaging way. Feature lighting is also proposed 
to highlight the Minster spire creating a landmark feature at night and to use the interior of the Minster for ‘shared’ light within 
the grounds. 

P
age 76



3

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2020

E X I S T I N G  S I T E  P H O T O G R A P H S

P
age 77



4

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2020

E X I S T I N G  B L O C K  P L A N  1 : 5 0 0

General Notes Revision Date Drawn Audited Details of revision

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2019

EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. is a limited company registered in England and 

Wales with a registration number 4647312.

RIBA Chartered practice 20022034. 

This drawing is not to be reproduced, copied or given to a third party without 

express permission. Do not scale drawings. Dimensions govern. 

All dimensions shall be verified on site before proceeding with the work. 

All dimensions given in millimetres unless stated otherwise. 

All drawings to be read in conjunction with other consultants drawings and 

specifications. EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. are to be formally notified of any 

discrepencies.

WORKSHOP CHELTENHAM

LAND TO REAR OF CHESTER WALK, CHELTENHAM

PROPOSED MIXED-USE 'INNOVATION HUB' FOR CHELTENHAM TOWN 

CENTRE

EXISTING BLOCK PLAN

PRELIMINARY

22 10 2019

EH

JDP1:500 @ A3

1519_204

Project

Description

Drawing Title

Description

Date

Drawn

Audited

www.edgedesignworkshop.com

Scale

Drawing Title

10 Martello Street, London E8 3PE

mail@edgedesignworkshop.com

020 7781 8177

7 Royal Well Place, Cheltenham GL50 3DN

mail@edgedesignworkshop.com

01242 528 111

C H E S T E R     W A L K

S
 T

  
  
 G

 E
 O

 R
 G

 E
 '
 S

  
  
 P

 L
 A

 C
 E

C H E L T E N H A M     M I N S T E R

L I B R A R Y     A R C H I V E

C H E L T E N H A M     H O U S E

C
 H

 U
 R

 C
 H

   
S T

 R
 E

 E
 T

W
 E

 L
 L

   
W

 A
 L

 K

T H E   F A M O U S

H I G H   S T R E E T

0 10 15 20 25 M

C H E LT E N H A M   M I N S T E R

L I B R A R Y   A R C H I V E

C H E LT E N H A M   L I B R A R Y

C H E LT E N H A M   H O U S E

H I G H   S T R E E T

C
L A R

E N
C

E

S
T

R
E

E
T

T H E   W I L S O N

C H E S T E R   W A L K

S
T

  
G

E
O

R
G

E
’ S

  
P

L
A

C
E

P
age 78



5

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2020

P U B L I C  R E A L M  M A S T E R P L A N  1 : 5 0 0

Existing hard landscaping

Shopmobility

DIAGRAM KEY

Existing grass areas

Existing trees

Historical footpath - Processional Way

Historical footpath - Well Walk

Lighting to be provided along Well Walk, Processional Way, Cheltenham Minster steeple, spire and west 
elevation

NOTE:

General Notes Revision Date Drawn Audited Details of revision

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2019

EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. is a limited company registered in England and 

Wales with a registration number 4647312.

RIBA Chartered practice 20022034. 

This drawing is not to be reproduced, copied or given to a third party without 

express permission. Do not scale drawings. Dimensions govern. 

All dimensions shall be verified on site before proceeding with the work. 

All dimensions given in millimetres unless stated otherwise. 

All drawings to be read in conjunction with other consultants drawings and 

specifications. EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. are to be formally notified of any 

discrepencies.

WORKSHOP CHELTENHAM

LAND TO REAR OF CHESTER WALK, CHELTENHAM

PROPOSED MIXED-USE 'INNOVATION HUB' FOR CHELTENHAM TOWN 

CENTRE

EXISTING BLOCK PLAN

PRELIMINARY

22 10 2019

EH

JDP1:500 @ A3

1519_204

Project

Description

Drawing Title

Description

Date

Drawn

Audited

www.edgedesignworkshop.com

Scale

Drawing Title

10 Martello Street, London E8 3PE

mail@edgedesignworkshop.com

020 7781 8177

7 Royal Well Place, Cheltenham GL50 3DN

mail@edgedesignworkshop.com

01242 528 111

C H E S T E R     W A L K

S
 T

  
  
 G

 E
 O

 R
 G

 E
 '
 S

  
  
 P

 L
 A

 C
 E

C H E L T E N H A M     M I N S T E R

L I B R A R Y     A R C H I V E

C H E L T E N H A M     H O U S E

C
 H

 U
 R

 C
 H

   
S T

 R
 E

 E
 T

W
 E

 L
 L

   
W

 A
 L

 K

T H E   F A M O U S

H I G H   S T R E E T

0 10 15 20 25 M

Proposed high level lighting

Proposed low level shrubs

Proposed biodiversity garden and community 
art in partnership with The Wilson

Proposed meeting place

Proposed lightweight elevated footpath

C H E LT E N H A M   M I N S T E R

W O R K S H O P
( C O D A )

L I B R A R Y   A R C H I V E

C H E LT E N H A M   L I B R A R Y

C H E LT E N H A M   H O U S E

H I G H   S T R E E T

C
L A R

E N
C

E

S
T

R
E

E
T

T H E   W I L S O N

C H E S T E R   W A L K

S
T

  
G

E
O

R
G

E
’ S

  
P

L
A

C
E

Proposed activity lawn

P
age 79



6

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2020

B I O D I V E R S I T Y,  S E AT I N G  &  F O O T PAT H S  P R E C E D E N T S

Biodiversity garden

Footpath finishes

DIAGRAM KEY

Fixed seating

Flexible seating

Floating footpath

A

A A C

C

E

B

BB

B

D

B

C

D

E

P
age 80



7

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2020

A L L E Y WAY  &  L I G H T I N G  P R E C E D E N T S

Footpath lighting

Church lighting

DIAGRAM KEY

Alleyway lighting

A

B

C

A

A

A

A

AB

B B

B

CC

C

P
age 81



PRELIMINARY PROPOSAL
ISSUE 07 - 21 07 2020

PUBLIC REALM MASTERPLAN

7 Royal Well Place, Cheltenham  GL50 3DN

01242 528 111

10 Martello Street, London  E8 3PE

020 7781 8177

mail@edgedesignworkshop.com

www.edgedesignworkshop.com

Copyright © EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. 2020

EdgeDesignWorkshop Ltd. is a limited company registered in England and 

Wales with a registration number 4647312.

RIBA Chartered practice 20022034.

P
age 82


	Agenda
	8 Covid-19 recovery revised budget 2020/21
	2020_11_16_Cabinet_Council_Covid recover revised budget_2020_21_appendix2
	2020_11_16_COU_Covid_Recovery_budget_Copy of Appendix 3 - Budget Virements for Approval - 2020-21 Budget
	2020_11_16_COU_Covid_recovery_budget_Appendix 4 - Flexible use of capital receipts strategy 2021-22
	2020_11_16_COU_Covid_Recovery_budget_Copy of Appendix 5 - Budget setting timetable
	2020_11_16_COU_Covid_recovery_budget_Appendix 6_Strategic_Objectives_Vision

	9 Minster Innovation Exchange (formerly Workshop Cheltenham)
	2020_11_10_Minster Innovation Exchange_EXEMPT_appendix 2_financial projections
	2020_11_10_Minster Innovation Exchange_EXEMPT_appendix 3_financial projections 2
	2020_11_10_Minster Innovation Exchange_EXEMPT_appendix 4_financial projections 3
	2020_11_10_Minster Innovation Exchange_appendix 5_indicative capital budget
	2020_11_10_Minster Innovation Exchange_appendix 6_public realm masterplan


